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President & Chief Executive Officer

To our shareholiders:

The year 2003 was one of mixed
results and challenges for Vastera.
We achieved solid financial
performance, expanded
relationships with several major
customers, and acquired General
Electric’s internal US import
customs operations. However, we
also saw our new business sales
slow, and to attain profitability
targets, we reduced the level of
investment in our business. As the
new|CEQ, | am making significant
| changes to focus the Company on

TiM DAVENPORT |

the market opportunity we face as
the leading trade solutions company in a large and
growing market for Glebal Trade Management.

In 2003, we grew total|revenues by 12%. This
growth in total revenués is reflective of the
Company’s mixed results. Managed services
revenues grew 22%, but software revenues
decreased 9%. We delivered $0.05 pro forma
earnings per share. In fhe second half of the year,
we were cash flow positive from cperations for
the first time in the Company’s history.

During the year we were also accepted as a
member of the Bureau of Customs and Border
Protection’s Trade Partnership Against Terrorism
(C-TPAT) Program. Thi$ means that our customers
who are C-TPAT participants experience expedited
clearance and reduced physical examinations
through Customs’ checkpoints. Currently, we are
the only GTM solutions provider to be certified in
this program. Becoming a member of the

C-TPAT Program is another example of our
continued commitment to our customers and
global trade security.

Despite our accomplishments, 2003 was a
challenging year for Vastera. We experienced a
slow down in the rate at which we acquire new
customers. While it is widely known and accepted
that the global environment of 2003 posed
challenges for everyone, our disappointing business
results do not stem from the economy alone. Upon
closer examination of the factors that impacted last
year's performance, we are making significant
changes in the way we position, package, and sell
our broad-based global trade solutions. In
conjunction with these changes, we intend to make
significant financial investments in the Company.

Throughout 2004, we will focus our attention on
the following themes:

* Increasing our investment in sales and marketing,
product development, and managed services
operations to capitalize on our leadership
position in global trade management.

» Expanding our global outreach to sharpen
our focus in the short term. We are reducing
investments in some smaller markets to focus
on major strategic opportunities in Europe
and China.

* Investing in people, processes and technology
to constantly reduce the total cost per
transaction for the largest volumes of managed
service work that we perform, while providing
value to our customers and increasing
profitability for the company.

2003 Finaniciaﬂ Overview s tHousanps

REVENUES FOR THE YEAR:

MANAGED SERVICES $
SOFTWARE

SERVICES

TOTAL REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR:
SALES & MARKETING

R&D

G&A

DEPRECIATION

'

NET LOSS*

BALANCE SHEET DATA FOR THE YEAR END:
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS $
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

WORKING CAPITAL

TOTAL ASSETS

LONG-TERM DEBT -

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

2003 2002 2001
55,246 $ 45216 $ 32,765
11,382 12,523 13,727
18,603 18,639 18,432
85,231 76,378 64,924

9,163 11,974 18,154
11,895 13,189 14,583
11,023 9,608 9,053

5,170 4,643 3,239

(71,178) (11,358) (45,753)
16,046 $ 23,696 $ 10,982
40,402 33,261 62,789
57,308 53,548 68,339
97,264 165,564 163,860
698 1,078 2,344
73,222 137,657 137,818

We will expand our sales efforts in 2004. We will
re-energize our sales by better making the case for
how our range of technology and services offerings
can enable trade-oriented companies to save on
import duties, reduce logistics costs, and improve
compliance with trade and security regulations. To
accomplish this, we are structuring our sales and
services organizations to explain and deliver our
solutions to the world's largest companies in a
more easily understood and simplified manner.

Conducting business on a global basis has
become more complex than ever. We live in a
time when governments are enacting rules and
regulations that have tightened border security
across the world and added to the complexity of
the cross-border movement of goods. Vastera
offers Global Trade Management solutions
unrivalled in the marketplace. We continue to
define this marketplace and we employ the most
knowledgeable experts in the industry. At a time
when ensuring regulatory compliance is an
absolute necessity for global companies, we are
the must have Global Trade Management solution
for any successful businesses.

We have accomplished a great deal to position
ourselves as the leading trade solutions company.
We will be working vigorously to re-energize and
expand our growth in the vibrant market in which
we continue to offer the most unique solutions to
the trade-oriented companies of the world.
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2000 1999

$ 6,133 $ -
10,732 7,261
17,491 13,305
34,356 20,566
13,920 7,143
12,482 6,194
5,923 3,480
2,262 1,312
(35,829) (10,479)

$ 19,693 $ 961
70,978 3,908
81,478 (4,200)
185,510 17,152
1,787 2,326
159,010 (49,928)

* 2003 Net Loss includes é $69.0 million write-down of goodwill and intangible assets. See Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cautionary Statement

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements and related Notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Report. We urge you to review and consider
carefully the various disclosures made by us in this Report and in our other reports filed with the SEC,
including our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K.

The section entitled “Risk Factors” set forth below, and similar sections in our other SEC filings,
discuss some of the important risk factors that may affect our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Before deciding to invest in our company or to maintain or increase your investment, you should
consider carefully those risks, in addition to the other information contained in this Report and in our other
filings with the SEC.

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, which include, but are not limited to, statements concerning projected revenues, cost of
revenues, expenses, operating income and net income, results of the future application of new accounting
rules, market acceptance of our solutions, the competitive nature of and anticipated growth in our markets,
our need for additional capital, and the success of pending litigation. These forward-looking statements are
based on our current expectations, estimates and projections about our industry, and reflect management’s
belief and certain assumptions made by us based upon information available to us at the time of this
Report. Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans, “believes,” “secks,” “estimates,
“will” and variations of these words or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. These statements speak only as of the date of this Report, are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Our actual
results could, therefore, differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in “Risk Factors” below. We undertake no
obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason.
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PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Vastera is the worldwide leader in providing solutions for Global Trade Management. We serve an
international client base, including companies such as Alcatel, Dell, Ford Motor Company, GE, Lucent,
Fonterra, Goodyear, Nortel Networks, and Seagate. Our clients utilize our solutions to manage their
trade worldwide, We provide solutions to our clients that manage the information flows associated with
the cross border components of importing and exporting goods. Our solutions enable clients to manage
the complexities and inefficiencies inherent in global trading in a manner that allows them to capitalize
on the large, highly fragmented, and rapidly growing opportunity that exist in the international market.
We have three principal solution offerings for Global Trade Management, which are TradeSphere
Solutions; Trade Management Consulting; and Managed Services. The foundation upon which our
solution offerings are based is our collection of proprietary processes, data, rules, and regulations,
which we call our Global Trade Content.

We were founded in late 1991. Our initial solutions consisted almost exclusively of software
solutions and implementation services associated with the installation of our software products. In
July 2000, we undertook a fundamental shift in our product and services offerings when we acquired
Ford Motor Company’s global customs import operations, including a number of Ford’s employees. The
acquisition of Ford’s global customs import operations enabled us to broaden significantly our solutions
offerings by enabling us to provide trade management business process outsourcing services to our
clients in the form of our Managed Services offering.



Today, Managed Services is our principal line of business. While we have numerous Managed
Services customiers, our two largest customers, comprised of 69% of managed services revenues in 2003.

At the time we acquired Ford’s global customs import operations, we also entered into a Managed
Services agreement that provides for us to administer, automate, and manage Ford’s global trade
import operations in the United States until August 2005. Subsequently, we expanded our relationship
with Ford by assuming responsibility for administering and managing Ford’s global trade import
operations in Mexico, Canada, the United Kingdom, Spain, Belgium, and Germany (the United
Kingdom, Spain, Belgium, and Germany Ford entities collectively referred to as “Ford Europe”). These
agreements provide us with a guaranteed, predictable, and recurring revenue stream from Ford at least
through 2005. We expect to derive at least $25 million in annual revenues from our agreements with
Ford U.S., Ford Mexico, Ford Canada, and Ford Europe in 2004.

In August 2001, we entered into a five-year Managed Services agreement with Lucent Technologies
to manage Lucqnt’s global trade operations in the United States. Subsequently, we expanded our
relationship with Lucent by assuming responsibility for administering and managing Lucent’s global
trade operations in other countries in North America, Europe and in Brazil. From August 2001 through
August 2004, we expect to generate approximately $25 million in aggregate revenues from our
agreement with Lucent U.S. In August 2004, Lucent will be able to terminate the agreement for

convenience with six months advance notice. We anticipate negotiating an extension to the agreement.

Other Acquisitions

In June 2003, we acquired GE’s internal U.S. customs import operations. We also entered into a
Managed Services agreement pursuant to which we are managing the U.S. customs import operations
for five of GE’s divisions for a minimum term of three years. The financial results of GE’s internal
U.S. customs import operations have been included in our operations since July 1, 2003, the effective
date of the acquisition. In exchange for selling us its internal U.S. customs import operations, GE
received $3.0 million in cash and 51,046 shares of our common stock, valued at approximately $312,000.
The purchase price totaled approximately $3.4 million, which includes transaction costs of
approximately $62,000.

As part of our strategy of expanding our global presence to enhance our competitive position
worldwide, we acquired entities providing Global Trade Management Solutions in Mexico, Canada, and
Brazil in the first quarter of 2002. In connection with all three acquisitions, we paid approximately
$5.8 million in cash, issued to the sellers an aggregate 463,000 shares of our common stock with an
aggregate value at the time of issuance of approximately $6.9 million, and incurred approximately
$1.6 million in transaction and issuance costs, including the issuance of 10,000 shares of common stock
valued at approximately $71,000 to an investment advisor.

Our Products and Services

Our comprehensive solutions for Global Trade Management consist of TradeSphere Solutions;
Trade Management Consulting; and Managed Services. Clients may select elements of each of our
product and service offerings to address their specific needs and opportunities. This flexibility provides
our clients with uniquely tailored solutions to automate and increase the efficiency of their global trade
processes. The foundation upon which our solution offerings are based is our collection of proprietary
processes, data, rules, and regulations, which we call our Global Trade Content.

Global Trade Con;;ent

Our Global Trade Content is at the heart of our solutions. Global Trade Content is our rules-based
application that provides comprehensive management of trade regulations and programs. This extensive
base of electronic\content serves as the repository for our entire suite of Global Trade Management.




solutions. Because of the global trade expertise and specialization required to acquire, interpret and
update country-specific trade regulations, we employ a full-time content team dedicated exclusively to
tracking and managing trade regulations and trade content and preferential programs. This team
consists of individuals such as a former government compliance official, international trade lawyers,
licensed customs brokers, and in-country data experts.

Vastera offers various levels of content to its clients, from comprehensive content automation to
document automation. Periodic regulatory and policy changes require us to update solutions on a
regular basis to keep current with the latest country-specific trade regulations. To meet this need, daily
updates and postings are made through TradePrism.com, our global trade exchange, and Vastera*Net,
our private client exchange, from which updates and changes can be electronically applied. Information
provided in our Global Content includes: trade data, government denied party lists, regulation updates
and notices, trade committee meeting information, requests for public comment on regulatory issues,
and final rulings on proposed regulation.

TradeSphere Solutions

TradeSphere. TradeSphere is our set of software applications that streamlines and automates the
information exchanges associated with the cross-border movement of goods. TradeSphere components
facilitate specific global trade functions, strategically manage the information required to trade globally,
and enhance the efficient exchange of information and goods among extended members of a client’s
global trade network. Components of TradeSphere include restricted party screening and boycott/
embargo screening, landed cost calculation, shipment documentation, event management, export
compliance, import compliance, trade agreement optimization, customs entry filing, sourcing
optimization and carrier management. Clients may use our TradeSphere components on a term license,
perpetual license, or transaction fee basis. We also offer these components as a hosted solution.

Client Services. We provide our clients with services to complement our TradeSphere Solutions,
which include:

* Implementation Services. Our implementation consultants assist clients with the integration,
management and technical activities during the installation phase, provide them with
comprehensive documentation instructions and offer training classes to help clients understand
the functions of TradeSphere.

* Post-Implementation Support. Client support specialists are available on a daily basis. To facilitate
troubleshooting, we maintain dial-in access to the client’s production environment. Our clients
also have access to our continuing education classes that feature industry- related topics.

Trade Management Consulting

Our Trade Management Consulting services leverage our extensive global trade expertise and our
proprietary analytical methodologies. Our Trade Management Consulting services range from
performing compliance assessments, to designing processes and procedures, to implementing the
processes and procedures that we have developed for a client. Each consulting engagement is based on
focused objectives and deliverables that are specifically tailored to each client’s needs.

Our Trade Management Consultants provide extensive, hands-on experience gained from their
careers in a variety of industry sectors, with specific areas of expertise including import and export
operations and compliance, international transportation, logistics and distribution, trade finance,
pricing, international marketing, training and manufacturing.
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Managed Ser\‘{ices

Our Managed Services offerings consist of business process outsourcing solutions that combine our
Global Trade! Content, TradeSphere solutions, proprietary global trade methodologies and processes,
and trade expertise. We offer services to manage all or a portion of our clients’ global trade operations,
ranging from [specific global trade functions to providing a complete Managed Services engagement.
Our goal is to provide consistent levels of service while working with our clients to reduce their
operating costs and to realize benefits such as enhancing regulatory compliance, capitalizing on
preferential trade programs, increasing speed in their global supply chain and improving supplier
sources.

We seek to increase customer profitability by implementing our own process and our own
technology into our Managed Services engagements. Over time, the deployment of our technology
reduces the overall costs of our Managed Services Operations.

Product Development

As of December 31, 2003, our product-engineering team consisted of about 110 professionals. Our
solutions development is structured around solution teams that are comprised of developers led by a
senior development manager responsible for delivering a defined solution engine. This structure allows
us to outsource non-critical development activities when necessary to bring products to market quickly.
These solutiori teams are led by experienced global trade professionals who set the product plan and
requirements based on our business plan and market dynamics.

Our research and development expenses totaled approximately $11.9 million, $13.2 million, and
$14.6 million ih 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which represented 14%, 17%, and 22%, of our total
revenues, respectively. We believe that we must continue to invest in research and development to
develop new competitive products and services.

Financial Infofmation About Geographic Areas

We sell our products and services through our offices in the United States and through our
subsidiaries and branch entities in the United Kingdom, Europe, Mexico, Canada, Brazil, and Japan.
We base our geographic classification of product and services revenues upon the location of our clients.
See Note 12 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding our
revenues and long-lived assets attributable to the United States and to foreign countries.

Financial Information About Segments

We have three reportable operating segments: managed services, software, and services. Our
managed services segment generates revenues from Managed Services arrangements. OQur software
segment generates revenues from term license, perpetual license, transaction license, and maintenance
agreements of our TradeSphere solutions. Our services segment generates revenues by charging our
customers for implementation, management consulting and training services. See Note 12 of the Notes
to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about our reportable segments.

Competition

Our market is competitive, rapidly evolving, and highly fragmented. We expect the intensity of
competition to increase in the future. We face competition from in-house development efforts,
consulting companies, other software companies, logistic companies, customs brokers, fowarders, and
third-party development efforts. We expect that these parties will continue to be a principal source of
competition forithe foreseeable future.

\
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We believe the principal competitive factors affecting our market include a referenceable client
base, the breadth and depth of a given solution, product quality and performance, client service, core
technology, product scalability and reliability, product features, the ability to implement solutions, and
the value of a given solution.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, confidentiality
agreements with employees and third parties, and protective contractual provisions contained in license
agreements with consultants, vendors and clients to protect our proprietary rights. At least one firm,
however, has obtained broad patents in the United States and New Zealand that purport to cover the
entire area of international sales and purchases calculations or a large portion of commerce related to
the use of computers in international trade. From our assessment, we do not believe we practice the
specific elements of the issued patents. Accordingly, we believe the technology and business processes
covered by these patents differ materially from our own technologies and processes. We cannot,
however, assure you that we will not be subject to lawsuits or other demands arising out of these or
other patents that may exist now or in the future.

We have a federal registered trademark in the mark “Vastera” in the United States and have filed
trademark applications in Canada, Mexico, and Japan for this mark. We have also filed federal
trademark applications with respect to the marks Global Trade Management, TradeSphere, TradePrism,
Global Trade Content, Opening the World to eBusiness and Global Passport.

We believe the strength of our trademarks and service marks benefits our business, and we intend
to continue to protect our registered and common law trademarks and service marks in the United
States and foreign jurisdictions. We have not secured registration of all of our marks in the United
States or foreign jurisdictions.

We also protect our proprietary rights by requiring employees to agree not to reveal any
proprietary information to our competitors and to sign our standard form of confidentiality agreement.

We incorporate technology from third parties into our software. We currently have non-exclusive
license agreements with Sun Microsystems and IBM for the use of their technology in our Global Trade
Management solutions. The term of our Sun Microsystems license expires on December 31, 2005, and
the term of our IBM license expires on June 30, 2006.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we employed approximately 590 people. Our employees are not
represented by any collective bargaining agreement, and we have never experienced a work stoppage.
We believe our relations with our employees are good.




ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Before deciding to invest in our Company or to maintain or increase your investment, you should
consider carefully the risks described below, in addition to the other information contained in this report and
in our other filings with the SEC, including our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties
not currently known to us or that we currently deem imumaterial may also affect our business operations. If
any of these nsks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be
seriously harmed. In that event, the market price for our common stock could decline and you may lose all
or part of your investment.

We have a history of losses and expect to incur losses in the near future.

We incurred net losses of approximately $71.2 million, $11.4 million, $45.8 million, $35.8 million,
and $10.5 million in 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Our accumulated deficit as of
December 31, 2003 was approximately $253.7 million. We believe that the success of our business
depends on our}ability to increase revenues and to manage our operating expenses. If our revenues fail
to grow at anticipated rates or our operating expenses are not properly managed, we may not be able
to achieve or maintain profitability, which would increase the possibility that the value of your
investment will decline. Although we generated positive cash flows from operations in 2003, in part
because we reduced operating expenses, we cannot assure you that we can continue to generate
positive cash ﬂows, especially if our revenues do not increase. As of December 31, 2003, we had cash
and short-term 1nvestments of $56.4 million. This is likely to be insufficient to sustain our operations
over the long- term if we do not generate positive cash flow from operations over time.

QOur Managed Services business model is unproven, and our inability to provide Managed Services
successfully to existing and future clients would substantially reduce our revenues, increase our costs,
hurt our reputaﬁion in our industry, and adversely affect our business.

|

The long-term success of our Managed Services business is predicated on our ability to leverage
our investment in our technology and processes to lower our per transaction costs to the lowest level
possible. As a critical element of our strategy, we intend to continue providing Managed Services to our
current and future clients. These services range from providing operational management for a single
global trade prodess to managing a client’s entire worldwide trade operation. We expect the revenues
we receive from providing Managed Services to our current and future clients will continue to
represent the largest portion of our total revenues. If we are unsuccessful in effectively lowering our
costs of delivery to acceptable levels, we may be unable to achieve a level of gross margin necessary to
achieve and sustdin profitability. Additionally, if we are unable to perform our obligations under our
agreements with Ford Lucent Technologies or Nortel Networks or to provxde Managed Services
successfully to our other clients, we would experience a significant reduction in our revenues, increases
in our costs, and damage to our reputation, which would adversely affect our business and results of
operations. !

Our revenues arel concentrated among a few customers. Therefore, our business success is dependent
on our maintaining good relationships with these customers.

In 2003, 2002, and 2001, we derived approximately 64%, 59%, and 67%, respectively, of our total
revenues from ou“r top five customers. In 2003, 2002, and 2001, Ford accounted for 30%, 30%, and
35% of total revenues, respectively. In 2003 and 2002, Lucent Technologies accounted for 14% and
11% of total revef\lues, respectively. We expect this customer concentration to exist for the foreseeable
future. We had no other customer that accounted for greater than 10% of our revenues for the periods
noted. As we contiinue to expand our relationships with existing Managed Services customers and if we
continue to sign large contracts with new customers, each such relationship will be of added




significance to us. Additionally, if we are unable to sign contracts that generate significant revenues,
this heavy concentration of customers will persist, which could cause us to become even more
dependent on each of our existing large customers. We also expect to continue to derive a significant
portion of our total revenues from Ford, Lucent and other top five customers making up the
concentration for at least the next several years. Some of our agreements permit a customer to
terminate for convenience after a specified period of time. We cannot assure you that we will be able
to maintain or renew these agreements. If any of these events occur, our results of operations and
financial condition would be adversely affected.

Some of our customers have been evolving or otherwise changing their business models. As these
customers change their business models, their volume requirements and level of service required from
us may decline, and adversely affect our business.

During the past few years, some of our clients have changed their business models significantly by
outsourcing various business functions and using contract manufacturers. The effects of such changes in
our customers’ business models may include a reduction in transaction volumes, as importing and
exporting of goods and parts may now occur through third party contract manufacturers and
outsourcing companies. If our customers’ transaction volumes decline significantly and we are unable to
add the third-party contract manufacturers and outsourcing companies as customers, our revenues will
decline, which would have an adverse impact on our business.

Any restriction on our ability to access a foreign country’s rules and regulations that we incorporate
into our Global Content cost-effectively and legally, or any failure to update our Global Content timely
to include changes in such rules and regulations, may compromise the effectiveness of our solutions
and adversely impact our customer relationships and revenues.

The success of our Global Trade Management solutions depends on our ability to obtain or access
the complex rules and regulations published by foreign governments governing a particular country’s
import and export of goods. The foundation of our solutions, Global Content, is subject to rapid
change at the initiative of foreign governments based on factors beyond our control. Any changes in a
country’s rules and regulations relating to global trade that we are unable to include in our Global
Content library may result in dissatisfied clients and possible litigation. Moreover, to the extent a
foreign government restricts our access to its rules and regulations, charges a fee for such access or
grants proprietary rights to such information to one or more of our competitors, our solutions may not
be useful to, or cost efficient for, our current and future clients and our revenues could decrease.

Fluctuations in our operating results and the composition of our revenues, compared to the
expectations of market analysts and investors, may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Our operating results have varied in the past and could fluctuate significantly in the future. We
expect that our operating results will continue to vary in the future, based on a number of factors,
including:

» The possible loss of a significant customer;

* The possible renegotiation of contract terms with one or more significant customers;

» Fluctuations in the demand for our products and services; '

* Qur ability, and the associated timing, to convert our customers to our technology platform;
* Competition in our industry;

* Inability to deliver compliant solutions;

* Changes in trade regulations;



* Variability in the mix of our managed services, software, and consulting revenues; and

* Timing of new solution introductions and enhancements to our TradeSphere and
TradePrism.com solutions.

Several of these factors are outside our control. Due to the foregoing factors, our annual or quarterly
results of operations may not meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors, which is likely
to cause the price of our common stock to decline.

We have a new senior management team that may not be able to develop and execute upon a
successful business strategy.

During the past 18 months, we have hired three new people into our executive management team
and we replaced the individual overseeing our Managed Services operations. This new management
team is responsible for developing a plan to significantly increase sales, improving product quality,
gaining market acceptance of our Managed Services offerings, and expanding our global operations.
Our management team must develop and execute upon a sound and appropriate strategy to grow
revenues and lachieve significant profitability. If the new management team is unable to develop a
sound and appropriate strategy, or if it is unable to execute upon such a strategy, our business will be
adversely affeé:ted.

We may be unable to attract and retain key personnel, which would adversely affect our ability to
develop and manage our business effectively.

Our future performance will depend largely on the efforts and abilities of our senior executives,
key technical, professional services, sales and marketing and managerial personnel. This dependence is
extremely important to our business because personal relationships are a critical element of obtaining
and maintaining clients. Also, we are dependent upon our technical personnel to enhance our
technology platforms so that our business remains competitive. Our success will depend on our ability
to attract and retain these key employees in the future. The market for such individuals is extremely
competitive, and we may not find qualified replacements for personnel who leave us. The loss of, or
the inability to! attract, any one or more of our key personnel may harm our ability to develop and
manage our business effectively.

Our international operations and planned expansion expose us to business risks that could limit the
effectiveness of our growth strategy, cause our operating results to suffer; and put some of our invested
capital at risk of loss.

We intend|to continue to expand our current international operations substantially and enter new
international markets. This expansion will require significant management attention and financial
resources to translate successfully our software products into various languages, to develop compliance
expertise relating to regulatory agencies in more countries and to develop direct and indirect
international sales and support channels. We face a number of risks associated with conducting our
business internétionally that could negatively affect our operating results, including:

* Language barriers, conflicting international business practices and other difficulties related to the
management and administration of a global business;

! . . . . . .
* Longer sales cycles associated with educating foreign clients about the benefits of our products
and services;

* Currency| fluctuations and exchange rates;
» Difficulty in repatriating cash from some foreign jurisdictions;
|

* Longer collection time from foreign clients;

'




* Multiple, and possibly overlapping, tax structures and the burdens of complying with a wide
variety of foreign laws; :

* The need to consider characteristics unique to technology systems used internationally; and
'+ Economic or political instability in some international markets.

We may not succeed in our efforts or we may experience delays in the execution of our plan to
enter new international markets, establish, maintain or increase international demand for our solutions
or expand our international operations. Any of these difficulties may harm our growth strategy and
could cause our operating results to suffer.

As we expand globally, we may establish operations in countries that become politically or economically
unstable, which may put the capital we have invested in these operations at a risk of loss and cause
our business to be adversely affected.

We intend to continue expanding our operations and serving our existing clients internationally. As
we do so, we may establish operations in countries that become politically or economically unstable. If
a country in which we commence operations becomes politically or economically unstable, the money
and resources we have invested to establish such operations may be put at risk of loss, and if such
money and resources are lost, our business may be adversely affected.

Our software products and Managed Services offerings are complex. During the sales cycle these
offerings must be described and articulated to several individuals across a customer’s organization
before a final purchasing decision is made. Because of the significant number of people with whom we
must interact and the complexity of our software and Managed Services offerings, our sales cycle is
lengthy and variable in nature, which makes it difficult for us to predict when or if sales will occur.
Therefore, we may experience an unexpected shortfall in sales.

Due to the inherent complexities associated with global trade and the myriad of rules and
regulations governing global trade, our software and Managed Services solutions are very complex.
Additionally, many prospects face regulatory compliance issues of which they are unaware prior to us
performing any due diligence. Because of the complexity of our software and Managed Services
offerings, and the regulatory issues many prospects face during the sales cycle, our personnel must
conduct in depth discussions and provide detailed explanations to several individuals across an
organization. These people are often members of the finance, purchasing, customs, and legal
departments of an organization. Moreover, these individuals typically view the purchase of our solutions
as an important, but not core decision. As a result, they generally evaluate our solutions and determine
their impact on existing infrastructure over a lengthy period of time. Because we must interact with,
and educate so many distinct individuals during the sales cycle, revenues forecasted from a specific
client for a particular quarter may be delayed to another quarter. Consequently, we may experience an
unexpected shortfall in sales, which could adversely affect our operating resuits.

Any loss of our licensed third-party technology may result in increased costs of, or delays in, providing
our solutions, which would harm our operating results.

We license technology from several companies on a non-exclusive basis that we have integrated
into our TradeSphere product suite. This technology includes development tools and facilities from
IBM (WebSphere and MQ Series) and Forte, which was acquired by Sun Microsystems. Our license
with Sun Microsystems expires on December 31, 2005, and our license with IBM expires on June 30,
2006. If we cannot renew these technology licenses, we likely would face delays in the licensing of our
TradeSphere products until equivalent technology, if any, can be identified, licensed and integrated,
which would adversely affect our operating results.



If we interpret and analyze incorrectly the various laws and regulations contained in our Global
Content or we perform our Managed Services in a non-compliant manner, we may face costly liability
claims.

The foundation of our software solutions and Managed Services, Global Content, is a rules-based
application that provides comprehensive management of government trade regulations and programs
that must be acquired, interpreted, and updated by Vastera’s in-country trade experts. Because of the
legalistic and complex nature of Global Content, our inability to interpret and analyze accurately the
rules and regule‘}tions upon which our Global Content is based may expose us to liability claims from
our clients in connection with our current products and future products. Additionally, our Managed
Services customers view us as global trade experts. If we perform our services in a manner that does
not comply with legal or regulatory requirements, our clients could face severe penalties and they
would seek recompense from us to make them whole. Any provisions in our agreements with our
clients designed\to limit our exposure to potential product or services liability claims may not be
adequate to protect us from such claims. A claim of product liability or a claim that our performance
of Managed Serv1ces in a non-compliant manner brought against us successfully could harm our
financial condition. Even if unsuccessful, any claims could result in costly litigation and divert
management’s attention and resources. Additionally, the effective implementation of our products may
depend upon the successful operation of third-party licensed products in conjunction with our products
and, therefore, any undetected errors in these licensed products may prevent the implementation or
impair the functionality of our products, delay new product introductions, and harm our reputation.

The market for our Global Trade Management Managed Services and software offerings is a nascent
one, and if companies fail to adopt our offerings, our business will be adversely affected.

For most companies, Global Trade Management is a critical but non-core business function.
Because the market for third-party Global Trade Management is a nascent one, many companies may
be reluctant or unw1111ng to utilize a third-party service provider to manage their global trade, and will
retain these functions in-house. If companies fail to adopt managed service offerings, our business will
be adversely affected.

We may encounter competition from significantly larger companies that possess both greater financial
resources and name recognition than we possess.

Although we believe our solutions are currently competitive, the market in which we operate is
characterized by early adopters and is rapidly evolving. We may not be able to maintain our
competitive position against current and potential competitors, especially those with significantly greater
financial resources, name recognition, and other resources, such as international brokers, freight
forwarders, and llogistics companies.

We may be unabl“e to protect our proprietary rights adequately, which could result in their
unauthorized use| by our competitors and have an adverse impact on our revenues.
Our success tlepends on our ability to protect our proprietary rights. We rely primarily on:
* Confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties;

* Protective contractual provisions such as those contained in license agreements with consultants,
vendors, and clients, although we have not signed such agreements in every case; and

* Copyright, trade secret, and trademark laws.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may copy aspects of our
products and obtam and use information we regard as proprietary. Other parties may breach
confidentiality agreements or other protective contracts. We may not become aware of these breaches




or have adequate remedies available. We may need to litigate claims against third parties who infringe
our intellectual property rights, which could be costly, time-consuming, and would divert management’s
attention and resources.

We may have to defend against intellectual property infringement claims, which could be expensive,
and if we are unsuccessful, could result in substantial monetary liability and disrupt our business.

We cannot be certain that our solutions do not or will not infringe valid patents, copyrights,
trademarks, or other intellectual property rights held by third parties, inside and outside the U.S. As a
result, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time relating to the intellectual
property of others in the ordinary course of our business.

We may incur substantial expenses in defending against any third-party infringement claims,
regardless of their merit. Successful infringement claims against us may result in substantial monetary
liability, may divert management’s attention from our core business, and may disrupt our business. In
addition, if we are unsuccessful in defending such claims, we may need to obtain a license to the
technology, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.

Any future acquisitions may be difficult to integrate and disruptive to our operations. We may not
realize the expected benefits from any such acquisitions, and if we cannot address the challenges
presented by acquisitions, our operating results may be harmed.

In the past, we have acquired businesses to expand our operations or market presence, and we
intend to continue our expansion by acquiring or investing in companies, assets or technologies that
complement our business and offer opportunities for growth. These transactions involve many risks and
challenges that we might not successfully overcome, including:

* Difficulties in assimilating technologies, products, personnel, and operations;

* Disruption of our ongoing business and diversion of management’s attention from other business
concerns;

* Risks of entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience;
* Issuances of equity securities that may dilute your ownership interest in our common stock;

» Cash payments to, or the assumption of debt or other liabilities of, the companies we acquire;
and

* Write-offs related to goodwill and other intangible assets and other adverse accounting
consequences.

Your ability to influence corporate matters may be limited because our officers, directors, and affiliates
will be able to control, and Ford will be able to influence, matters requiring stockholder approval and
these parties may have interests that differ from yours.

As of December 31, 2003, our officers, directors, and affiliated entities, together with Ford,
beneficially owned approximately 46% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. This
concentration of ownership may delay, deter, or prevent acts that would result in a change of control,
which in turn could reduce the market price of our common stock. Accordingly, these stockholders
collectively may be able to control all matters requiring stockholder approval and, thereby, our
management and affairs. Ford beneficially owns approximately 19% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock. As the single largest stockholder of Vastera, Ford may exercise significant influence
over corporate acts requiring stockholder approval, including a merger or sale of Vastera. Also, so long
as Ford holds at least 5% of our common stock, it has the right to appoint a non-voting observer to
our board of directors. Our officers, directors, and affiliated entities, together with Ford, may have
interests that differ from your interests, and their decisions may negatively impact our future success.

11




ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our prinicipal administrative, sales, marketing, consulting services, technical support and product
development facilities are located at our headquarters in Dulles, Virginia. We currently occupy
approximately 51,000 square feet of office space in the Dulles facility under a lease that terminates in
October 2010. We also have sales, marketing, technical support and product development facilities in:
Sao Paulo, Brazil; Juarez, Mexico; Windsor, Ontario; and Manchester, United Kingdom. We also lease
office space for sales, marketing and consulting activities in: Longmont, Colorado; outside of London in
the United Kingdom; Sao Paulo, Brazil; and in Tokyo, Japan. Our primary Managed Services facilities
are located in: Southfield, Michigan; North Andover, Massachusetts; Ft Meyers, Florida; Longmont,
Colorado; Mexico City, Mexico; Sao Paulo, Brazil, and Burlington, Ontario. We believe these facilities
are suitable and provide the appropriate level of capacity for our current operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are pkriodically a party to disputes arising from normal business activities. In the opinion of
management, resolution of these matters will not have a materially adverse effect upon our financial
condition or our future operating results.

On March 14, 2001, Expeditors International of Washington, Inc. and Expeditors Tradewin, L.L.C.
(collectively “Expeditors”) filed suit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Michigan, Southern Division primarily alleging that we misappropriated certain of
Expeditors’ trade secrets in connection with our acquisition of Ford’s customs import operations, by
utilizing systems and business processes that Expeditors assisted in developing for Ford and through
our employee hiring practices. Discovery in this matter has ended, and the trial is presently scheduled
to commence in the second half of 2004.

In connection with our acquisition of Ford’s customs import operations, Ford agreed to indemnify
us for intellectual property infringement claims, and Ford is currently indemnifying us in connection
with this litigation. Although Ford is obligated to indemnify us for claims of intellectual property
infringement arising from the property we acquired from it, Ford is not obligated to indemnify us for
damages and legal fees arising from claims pertaining solely to our acts, upon which certain of the
claims asserted in this matter have been based. Although management believes we have meritorious
defenses to Expeditors’ claims, there can be no assurances that we will prevail in this matter.

In some of our software license arrangements, we have agreed to indemnify customers for any
damages they Sustain from a claim for intellectual property infringement. Although we do not believe
that our products infringe the intellectual property rights of any third party, we cannot estimate our
maximum liability exposure, due to the inherent uncertainty associated with any such claims and the
varying nature:of the indemnification levels to which we have agreed.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
|
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock, par value $0.01 per share, is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the
symbol “VAST.” The price range per share reflected in the table below is the highest and lowest sale
price for our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq National Market during the last eight quarters.

2003 2002
4th ard 2nd 1st 4th 3rd 2nd 1st
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
High ............ $5.80 $6.90 $6.96 $6.30 $6.20 $5.94 $14.89 $17.15
Low............. $3.16 $4.75 $3.69 $3.69 $2.11 $1.61 $ 4.09 $13.07

Our present policy is to retain earnings, if any, to finance future growth. We have never paid cash
dividends and have no present intention to pay cash dividends. Under the terms of our current loan
facility with Comerica Bank, we are also restricted from declaring or paying any dividends on any class
of equity securities.

On March 4, 2004, there were approximately 3,600 stockholders of record and the price per share
of our common stock was $4.10.

We issued 51,046 shares of common stock in the quarter ended June 30, 2003 in connection with
our acquisition of GE’s internal U.S. customs import operations. In issuing these shares, we relied on
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder for
exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. These shares of common stock
were issued to an accredited investor.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The tables! that follow presents portions of our financial statements and are not complete. You
should read the following selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with our financial
statements and|related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We derived the statement of operations
data for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999 and the balance sheet data as
of December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999 from our audited consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:

Managed services revenues . ... ...........
Software revenues .. ...................
Services revenues . .. . ..ot

Total revenues . .......... i

Cost of revenues:

Cost of managed services revenues . . .......
Cost of software revenues. . . ... ..........
Cost of service revenues . . . ..............

Operating expelises:

Sales and marketing . . .. ................
Research and idevelopment . . .............
General and administrative. . ... ..........

Impairment of] goodwill and intangible assets . . . .

In-process research and development . ... ...
Stock-based compensation . ..............

‘Total operating expenses . . . ............

Loss from operations . . .................
Other income (expense), net .............
i

Loss before income taxes . . ..............
Incometaxes .. .......... ... ... . ... ..

Netloss ..o

Dividends and :accretion on redeemable

- convertible preferred stock ... ..........

..

Net loss attributable to common stockholders . . .

Net loss per share

Basic and diluted net loss per share ........

Weighted-average/common shares outstanding . . . .
Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share . . ..

Pro forma weighted-average common shares

outstanding . . ...... .. o
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Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

$ 55,246 §$ 45,216 $32,765 § 6,133 § —
11,382 12,523 13,727 10,732 7,261
18,603 18,639 18,432 17491 13,305

85,231 76378 64,924 34,356 20,566

30,133 24,219 17,019 4,078 —
2,671 2,533 2,406 1,353 692
13,807 13,756 14,018 14341 11,514

9,163 11,974 18,154 13,920 7,143
11,895 13,189 14,583 12,482 6,194
11,023 9,608 9,053 5,923 3,680

5,170 4,643 3,239 2,262 1,312

2,842 2,608 22309 6,707 313
(228) 3,336 — — —
69,005 — — — —
— — 6901 — —
942 2,619 5626 10,167 378

109,812 47,977 79,865 51,461 19,020

(71,192) (12,107) (48,384) (36,877) (10,660)

597 922 2,937 1056 . 181
(70,595) (11,185) (45,447) (35,821) (10,479)
(583)  (173)  (306) (8) —

(71,178) (11,358) (45,753) (35,829) (10,479)

— — —  (35877) (19,347
$(71,178) $(11,358) $(45,753) $(71,706) $(29,826)

$ (173)$ (028)§ (122) $ (490) § (4.92)

41,128 40,019 37,650 14,620 6,065
$ (147)

24,441




Pro forma net loss per common share is computed using the pro forma weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Pro forma weighted-average common shares include the
assumed conversion of all outstanding convertible preferred stock into common stock as of the
beginning of the period presented.

December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents . ... ........... $16,046 $ 23,696 §$ 10,982 §$ 19693 § 961
Short-term investments . ................ 40,402 33,261 62,789 70,978 3,908
Working capital ................... ... 57,308 53,548 68,339 81,478 (4,200)
Total assets. .. ... .o i i 97,264 165,564 163,860 185,510 17,152
Long-termdebt ............. . ... ... 698 1,078 2,344 1,787 2,326
Redeemable convertible preferred stock . . . . . — — — — 46,117
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) ......... 73,222 137,657 137,818 159,010  (49,928)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Report, which are deemed to be incorporated into this section.

Overview

Vastera is the worldwide leader in solutions for Global Trade Management. We are an
international company with a presence in 13 countries, serving an international client base that utilizes
our solutions lto manage trade worldwide. Our solutions have been designed to enable our clients to
manage efficiently and effectively the information flows associated with the cross border movement of
goods and comply with the myriad rules and regulations to which global trade is subject.

Our solutions facilitate our clients’ abilities to manage the complexities and inefficiencies inherent
in global trading in a manner that allows them to capitalize on the large, highly fragmented, and
rapidly growing opportunity existing in the international market. We have three major product and
services offeripgs, which are: TradeSphere Solutions; Trade Management Consulting; and Managed
Services. The foundation upon which our product and services offerings are based is our collection of
proprietary processes, data, rules, and regulations, which we call our Global Trade Content.

Global Trade Content is our proprietary rules-based application that provides comprehensive
management of trade regulations and programs and functions as the information repository for our
entire suite of Global Trade Management solutions. TradeSphere Solutions is our suite of software
solutions that [helps manage critical trade processes, and provides visibility into shipment and carrier
performance. Trade Management Consulting is our consulting services offering that applies our global
trade expertise and our proprietary methodologies. Our consulting services range from performing
opportunity and compliance assessments to implementing detailed strategic analyses designed to
improve a client’s global trade practices. Managed Services is our business process outsourcing offering
through which| we combine our Global Trade Content, trade expertise, and technology to improve client
regulatory compliance and reduce transaction processing costs. We offer Managed Services to address
all or a portion of a client’s global trade operations, ranging from one or more specific global trade
functions to providing a complete suite of Managed Services.

The potential market into which we offer our products and services is an expansive one. Our
product and sérvices offerings, however, are new to their targeted audience. While our offerings are
critical to a company’s remaining compliant with import and export rules and regulations, generally our
offerings are not core to the business needs of a company. This can often mean that the decision as to
whether to purchase one of our solutions is predicated more on expected cost savings to be achieved by
an entity than it is upon enhanced compliance. In 2001 and 2002, our sales cycle averaged
approximately 5ix to nine months for software sales and nine to 12 months for Managed Services sales.
In 2003, however, we have experienced a lengthening of these cycle times.

During 2003, we experienced a significant slowing in the rate of growth of our revenues. This
slowing in growth rates reflects the impact of extended average sales cycle coupled with sales of
Managed Services and software at lower than expected levels. Total revenues during 2003 demonstrated
only modest growth, especially when compared to the revenue growth rates we experienced in 2001 and
2002. Total sales of Managed Services and software for 2003 were lower than planned and considerably
lower than what we achieved in the prior three years. We expect that our revenues will remain at or

below our 2003 revenue level until such time as we can accelerate the rate of our sales growth.

In 2003, we implemented several expense reduction activities to help offset the lack of aggregate
revenue growthL and achieve profitability targets. We expected that these cost reduction actions would
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be short in duration. Moreover, we expected to return to normalized spending levels once new sales
reached established targets. We did not, however, achieve our anticipated sales and, accordingly, the
desired outcome was not achieved. The expense reduction actions taken in 2003 have slowed our
progress in sales and marketing, product development and Managed Services operations. To satisfy
customer expectations for product quality better, to serve our Managed Services customers better, and
to re-invest in sales and marketing, and re-invigorate our revenue growth, we intend to increase
spending on operating expenses by $2.0 million to $3.0 million in 2004. Additionally, we anticipate
spending more on our Managed Services operations in 2004 than we did in 2003, which will result in a
reduction in managed services gross margins during the foreseeable future and a reduction in our cash
generated from operations due to continued net losses.

For the foreseeable future, we expect costs of managed services as a percentage of managed
services revenues to increase as we make investments in personnel to expand our Managed Services
platform, and continue our geographic expansion. Over the longer term, we expect to realize
productivity improvements from our investment in our infrastructure. As we enter into large multi-year
Managed Services agreements in new industry sectors or new geographic regions that may require
significant investments in the related infrastructure, the costs associated with these Managed Services
agreements are greater in the initial year than in the later years when we realize productivity
improvements from these infrastructure investments.

Our new management team is currently reviewing the level of investment we make in each of our
product and services lines of business and geographic areas of presence. We expect to streamline our
product and services lines and to consolidate and reorganize our geographic locations. To do so, we
anticipate incurring costs associated with exiting contractual relationships and terminating personnel.
Although management does not currently believe such costs will be material, we cannot yet quantify
them or the effects these actions may have on future revenues.

Critical Accounting Policies

We consider our accounting policies related to revenue recognition, internal use software, and
goodwill and intangible assets to be critical to our business operations and the understanding of our
results of operations. The impact and associated risks related to these policies on our business
operations are discussed throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations where such policies affect our reported and expected financial results. For a
summary of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements, see Note 2 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our preparation of this
report requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We cannot be certain that
actual results will not differ from those estimates.

Source of Revenues and Revenue Recognition Policy
Managed Services Revenues

Managed services revenues are derived from agreements that provide for transaction or services
fees based on the performance and delivery of our Managed Services solutions. Managed Services
solutions include the processing of our clients’ customs and shipment entries and the classifying of
clients” goods. Managed Services transaction arrangements are often subject to annual or quarterly
minimum transaction thresholds and revenues are recognized based on the lower of the cumulative
actual transactions processed using a weighted-average transaction rate or the cumulative amount
billable. For those Managed Services transaction arrangements subject to annual minimums and for
those arrangements where the amount billable for interim periods is limited to the pro-rata portion of
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the annual minimum, transactions processed in excess of the minimum in each period are not billable,
and, therefore, revenue is not recognized until the end of the related year. Certain Managed Services
arrangements are based upon a fixed services fee. Revenues associated with these arrangements are
recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement and limited to the amounts billable. In addition,
we may receive‘\‘annual gainsharing fees under certain Managed Services arrangements based on a
percentage of the client’s annual cost savings, as defined in those Managed Services arrangements.
These gainsharing fees are recognized when they become fixed and determinable. Managed Services
transaction minimums and fixed service fees are typically billed monthly.

Software Revenues

Software revenues consist of term license revenues, perpetual software license revenues, and
transaction-based revenues. We recognize revenue from the sale of software products in accordance
with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition.

Term license revenues are derived from term software license arrangements in which our clients
license our software products and obtain the right to unspecified enhancements on a
when-and-if-available basis, ongoing support and content update services. Content updates are
significant and frequent. Revenues are recognized ratably over the contract term. Term license
arrangements typically range from three to five years. To the extent we host the software for our
customers, the hosting fee is recognized ratably over the contract period in conjunction with the
recognition of the license fee. Term license fees are typically billed annually, quarterly or monthly.

Perpetual software license revenues are derived from perpetual software license arrangements and
related maintenance contracts. Maintenance contracts include the right to unspecified enhancements on
a when-and-if available basis, ongoing support, and content update services. The content updates
provided under maintenance arrangements are significant and frequent, and, as a result, revenues from
perpetual software license sales are recognized ratably over the estimated economic life of the product.
We have estimated that the life of the product is three years, which is consistent with the historical
periods between major upgrades to the functionality and architecture of our products. Accordingly, we
experience a drop-off in software revenues related to perpetual licenses at the end of the three-year
amortization period. Revenues from maintenance contracts are recognized ratably over the contract
term, typicaily one vear. To the extent we host the software for our customers, the hosting fee is
recognized ratably over the contract period in conjunction with the recognition of the license fee.

. ‘1 . . .
Transaction-based revenues are derived from agreements that provide for transaction fees based on
a client’s usage of our software products. Revenues from the usage of our software products are
recognized as transactions occur.

We recognize revenues from arrangements with resellers beginning when the software product is
sold to the end user. Any annual transaction minimums not sold by the reseller to the end customers
are recognized asirevenues upon the expiration of the annual minimum period.

|
Services Revenues

Services revenues are derived from implementation, Trade Management Consulting and training
services. Services are performed on a time and materials basis or under fixed price arrangements.
Revenues on time and materials contracts are recognized based on fixed billable rates for hours
delivered, and revenues on fixed priced contracts are recognized as the services are performed, using
the percentage of lcompletion method of accounting based on the ratio of costs incurred to total
estimated costs toibe incurred. Losses on arrangements are recognized when known.

|
|
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For multiple-element arrangements where we provide both software and software-related services,
we defer the service fee, based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value, and recognize it as
the services are performed.

Internal Use Software

In accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, we capitalize costs associated with the implementation and
integration of our trade management platform to our Managed Services operations, related to certain
capitalizable tasks including the technical design, system configuration and testing phases of the
integration process. Judgment is involved in determining which development tasks associated with the
platform integration are capitalizable pursuant to SOP 98-1. These costs are amortized as costs of
managed services revenues over three years, and amortization commences upon the completion of the
integration to the Vastera platform.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, we prepare an annual
assessment to test for impairment of goodwill. Our assessment date is December 31% of each year. The
assessment requires us to compare the carrying value of our reporting units to their fair values. To the
extent the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value, we are required to compare the
implied fair value, as defined, of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount to determine the
amount of impairment. The fair value and the implied fair value, as defined, is determined for the
reporting units taking into consideration many factors, such as current performance, future projections,
and market conditions.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for Impairment for or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,
purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. The estimated undiscounted future cash flows
of an asset takes into consideration many factors, such as current performance, future projections, and
market conditions.

Relationship with Ford Motor Company

In August 2000 we acquired Ford Motor Company’s global customs operations and merged Ford’s
global customs import operations into our Managed Services operations. The Ford import operations
that were merged into us consisted of Ford personnel and technology utilized by Ford to manage its
international trade transactions. By combining our existing technology and intellectual capital with that
acquired from Ford, we have expanded our Managed Services offerings to companies of varying sizes
on a global basis. Ford received 8,000,000 shares of our common stock valued at approximately
$79.2 million at the time of the transaction. As of December 31, 2003, Ford owned approximately 19%
of our common stock.

At the time we acquired Ford’s customs import operations, we also entered into a Global Trade
Management Services Agreement, under which Vastera manages Ford’s global trade import operations
in the U.S. Subsequent to signing the Global Trade Management Services Agreement, we expanded our
relationship with Ford by assuming responsibility for administering and managing its global trade
import operations in Mexico, Canada, the United Kingdom, Spain, Belgium, and Germany (the United
Kingdom, Spain, Belgium, and Germany Ford entities collectively referred to as “Ford Europe”). As
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initially structured, we billed Ford in the U.S. on a per transaction basis. The agreements signed with
Ford in eachl of these geographic areas provide us with guaranteed, predictable and recurring revenue
streams at least through December 31, 2005. Ford originally guaranteed us an annual minimum number
of transactions, with all transactions processed in excess of the guaranteed minimum being charged to
Ford in the fourth quarter of each year. By requiring that Ford guarantee an annual minimum number
of transactions, we were able to create a certain level of predictability in our revenue stream.

In February 2002, we amended our agreement with Ford U.S. to provide for quarterly minimum
transaction levels in lieu of annual minimum transaction levels. By amending the agreement in this
manner, we were able to bill Ford on a quarterly basis for the transactions processed in excess of the
minimum levels. In connection with the amendment, we agreed to reduce Ford’s U.S. aggregate annual
minimum revenue guarantee from $11.6 million to $11.0 million. For the three months and six months
ended June 30, 2002, we derived approximately $1.0 million and $2.5 million, respectively, in revenues
related to transactions in excess of the quarterly minimum.

In July 2002, we amended our agreement to eliminate the variability associated with the original
billing practice and to provide that we bill Ford U.S. a fixed annual service fee of $11.8 million for the
remaining life of the agreement, irrespective of the number of transactions we process. We expect to
derive no less than $25 million in revenues from our agreements with Ford U.S., Ford Mexico, Ford
Canada, and Ford Europe on an annual basis. We believe our client relationship with Ford will have a
significant impact on our total revenues, and Ford is expected to account for greater than 10% of our
total revenues for the foreseeable future. In 2003, 2002, and 2001, Ford Motor Company accounted for
30%, 30%, and 35% of our total revenues, respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, Ford owed
us approximately $4.5 million and $3.0 million, or 26% and 16%, of our total accounts receivable,
respectively.

We reimburse Ford for certain of its expenses associated with our use of Ford’s facilities, the costs

of leased employees and maintenance and expenses related to the acquired technology. During 2004,
we expect to pay approximately $400,000 in fees to Ford each month for reimbursement of these
expenses. In 2003, 2002, and 2001, we paid Ford approximately $6.4 million, $5.7 million, and
$5.7 million, respectively. These payments increased beginning in December 2002, when we assumed
responsibility for managing Ford’s import operations in Europe. However, we expect payments to
decrease in the future as we leverage our existing facilities and employees and deploy our own
technology. |

|
Lucent

In August|2001, we entered into a five-year agreement with Lucent Technologies to manage
Lucent’s global trade operations in the United States. From August 2001 through August 2004, we
expect to generate approximately $25 million in aggregate revenues from our agreement with Lucent
U.S. Subsequently, we expanded our relationship with Lucent by assuming responsibility for
administering and managing Lucent’s global trade operations in other countries in North America,
Europe and in Brazil. In 2003 and 2002, Lucent accounted for 14% and 11% of our total revenues,
respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, Lucent owed us approximately $1.2 million and
$3.5 million, or 7% and 19%, of our total accounts receivable, respectively. In August 2004, Lucent will
be able to terminate the agreement for convenience with six months notice. We anticipate negotiating
an extension tol the agreement.

Acquisitions

On June 19, 2003, we acquired GE’s internal U.S. customs import operations. We also entered into
a Managed Services agreement under which Vastera will manage the U.S. customs import operations
for five of GE’s U.S. divisions for a minimum term of three years. The results of GE’s internal U.S.
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customs import operations have been included in our operations since July 1, 2003, the effective date
of the acquisition. In exchange for its internal U.S. customs import operations, GE received

$3.0 million in cash and 51,046 shares of our common stock, valued at approximately $312,000. The
purchase price, including transaction costs of approximately $62,000, totaled approximately $3.4 million.

In the first quarter of 2002, we executed on our strategy of expanding our global presence to
enhance our competitive position worldwide and our ability to serve and support our clients. As part of
this strategy, we acquired companies in Mexico, Canada, and Brazil for combined purchase prices of
approximately $14.2 million.

On March 29, 2001, we acquired Speedchain, a development stage company with no revenues since
its inception in 1999, for approximately $18.8 million. Speedchain is a supply chain event management
and global e-logistics solutions provider. The acquisition was effected through the merger of
Speedchain into one of our wholly owned subsidiaries, Vastera Acquisition Corporation.

All of these acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The excess
of the consideration over the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities and identified intangibles
were accounted for as goodwill. We recorded an aggregate of approximately $10.8 million and
$4.0 million of identified intangibles and goodwill, respectively, in 2002 in connection with the
acquisitions executed in Mexico, Canada, and Brazil in the first quarter of 2002. We recorded
approximately $11.8 million of goodwill (including amounts reclassified from assembled workforce to
goodwill) in connection with the 2001 Speedchain acquisition. We recorded approximately $3.5 million
and $76.6 million of identified intangibles and goodwill (including amounts reclassified from assembled
workforce to goodwill), respectively, in 2000 in connection with our acquisition of Ford’s global customs
import operations.

Goodwill and identifiable intangibles were amortized on a straight-line basis over one to five years,
resulting in charges to operations of $22.3 million in 2001. On January 1, 2002, in accordance with
SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, we reclassified our assembled workforce intangible assets to
goodwill. As of January 1, 2002, we had unamortized goodwill of approximately $62.2 million. On
January 1, 2002, we adopted the nonamortization approach under SFAS No. 142 for our goodwill.

Amortization of intangible assets in 2003, 2002, and 2001 was approximately $2.8 million,
$2.6 million, and $2.0 million, respectively.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In December 2003, we recorded a charge of $69.0 million for the impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets associated with our prior acquisitions. The impairment resulted from our annual
review of goodwill and intangible assets, which considered current business performance, slowed growth
and other market conditions.

SFAS No. 142 requires us to perform annual testing to compared each reporting unit fair value to
its carrying value, including goodwill. We engaged an independent valuation firm to assess the fair
value of each of our reporting units and their intangible assets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002. We
determined that each reporting units’ carrying value, including goodwill, did not exceed its fair value as
of December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2003, we determined that two of our reporting units’
carrying values, including goodwill, exceeded their respective fair values. As a result, at December 31,
2003, we assessed the fair value of the reporting units’ assets, including identified intangible assets, and
liabilities and derived an implied fair value for the each reporting units’ goodwill. Since the carrying
amount of goodwill was greater than its implied fair value for the two identified reporting units, we
recognized a charge of $62.9 million charge for impairment of goodwill in December 2003.

We determined fair value of the reporting units using an average of the income approach and
market approach values, We determined the estimated fair value of identified intangible assets and
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non-goodwilll intangible assets and liabilities using our estimate of discounted cash flows. We used a
discount rate| based on the specific risks and circumstances associated with the identified intangible
asset or other non-goodwill assets or liability being evaluated. The assumptions supporting the
estimated cash flows for identified intangible assets and other non-goodwill assets and liabilities,
including the'discount rate, reflect our estimates. The discount rate was based upon our weighted
average cost of capital as adjusted for the risks associated with the operations being tested.

As part of the review of our financial results for 2003, we performed an assessment of the carrying
value of our long-lived assets, including intangible assets, as required by SFAS No. 144. As a result, we
recorded a charge of $6.1 million in December 2003, related to the impairment of technology and
know-how acquired in our prior acquisitions. This charge was based on the amount by which the
carrying amotunt of the developed technology exceeded its fair value. Fair value was determined based
on our estimate of the discounted future cash flows derived from the developed technology, which had
separately identifiable cash flows. The assumptions supporting the estimated future cash flows,
including the discount rate, reflect our estimates. The discount rate was based upon our weighted
average cost of capital, as adjusted for the risks associated with the operations being tested.

Management’s) Disclosure of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

From time to time, management makes public disclosures, other than in our SEC filings on
Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, of certain financial measures such as pro forma earnings (loss) and
EBITDA, as adjusted (as defined below), that are not considered GAAP financial measures. On
January 29, 20@4, we issued an earnings press release and included it as an exhibit to a Form 8-K we
filed with the SEC the same day. This press release contained reconciliations of pro forma earnings
(loss) and EBITDA, as adjusted, to our reported net loss.

Management believes that pro forma earnings (loss) is a useful supplement to GAAP financial
measures as it measures our operating performance and liquidity for the reporting period because it
excludes those ¢harges associated with past events that are not related to current operations or that are
not relevant to current operations and will not be in the foreseeable future. Because the Company has
such a significant balance of net operating losses that it will be able to carry forward and apply against
future U.S. tax liabilities, we exclude income taxes from the calculation of pro forma earnings (loss).
Although we do pay income taxes on a portion of the revenues we generate, the aggregate amount of
such payments is not material in relation to our net operating losses. Until such time as we generate
income from operations and have fully applied our net operating losses to future tax liabilities, which
we do not expect to occur during the foreseeable future, we believe that income taxes will not be a
relevant element of our operating performance. The excluded intangible amortization expense and
impairment of goodwxll and intangibles are associated with identifiable intangible assets from prior
acquisitions. The excluded stock-based compensation expense pertains to deferred non-cash
compensation charges recorded in connection with our initial public offering of common stock and
from prior acquisitions.

EBITDA, a% adjusted, excludes expenses related to amortization of intangible assets, restructuring
charges, impairment of goodwill and intangibles, stock-based compensation, income taxes, depreciation,
amortization of revenue discounts related to customer contracts and amortization of capitalized
internal-use software costs, and other income, net. Management uses EBITDA, as adjusted, to measure
and evaluate our;operating performance and liquidity, because it reflects the resources available from
the reporting period’s operations for operating and strategic opportunities. These opportunities include
investing in the busmess meeting financing obligations, making strategic acquisitions, and paying other
cash obligations. Therefore management believes EBITDA, as adjusted, is an appropriate measure by
which to evaluate! our operating performance and liquidity.
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Pro forma earning (loss) and EBITDA, however, should be considered in addition to, and not as a
substitute for or as being superior to, operating net losses, cash flows, or other measures of financial
performance prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2003 to Year Ended December 31, 2002

Revenues
For the Year Ended December 31,
2 2002 Expecied
Percent of Percent of % of Total
Amount Total Amount Total Increase (Decrease) Revenues
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Managed services . . $55,246 65% $45,216 59% $10,030 22% 65 -70%
Software . ....... 11,382 13 12,523 16 (1,141) (9) 10-15
Services. . ....... 18,603 22 18,639 25 (36) — 15-20
Total revenues . . $85,231 100% $76,378 100% $ 8,853 12%

We expect total revenues for 2004 to be between $80 million and $85 million.

Managed services revenues. We derive managed services revenues from agreements that provide for
transaction or service fees based on our performance of Managed Services.

The increase in managed services revenues from 2002 to 2003 primarily resuited from the
following:

* Higher revenue from our new contract with GE, which began on July 1, 2003.

* Higher revenue, from the inclusion of a full year of revenue associated with our contract with
Ford Europe, which began in December 2002.

Additional revenue from other new Managed Services contracts signed in 2003.

A reduction in revenue of approximately $2.5 million related to excess transactions billed to
Ford U.S. in 2002 but for which no excess transactions were billed during 2003.

A reduction in revenue from the effect of a few contract transaction minimum step-downs in
2003 because, in some of our transaction-based managed service contracts, the minimum number
of guaranteed transactions declines over time. To the extent the minimum volumes step-down
over time and the customer transaction volumes are below the minimum, our revenues decrease
over that time period.

Our top five Managed Services customers accounted for 91% of our managed services revenues in
both 2003 and 2002. Our non-US managed services revenues increased to $14.3 million in 2003 from
approximately $7.7 million in 2002. The majority of this increase resulted from expansion of our
customer contracts into Europe. The favorable effect on revenues of changes in exchange rates between
2002 and 2003 was approximately 1%. We expect non-US managed services revenues to continue to
increase as a percentage of managed services revenues in the future.

In 2004, we expect revenues on several of our customer contracts to decrease due to reductions in
the base minimum fees associated with the step-down in the minimum number of transactions in those
contracts. We estimate between approximately $2.0 million and $3.0 million of reduced revenues from
these contracts in 2004. Additionally, revenue derived from large customer contracts may change as we
renew these contracts. If we fail to maintain or expand the scope of services provided under these
contracts, our revenues from these contracts will decrease.
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Software irevenues. Software revenues consist of term license revenues, perpetual software license
revenues, maintenance revenues, and transaction-based revenues.

The revénue decrease in 2003 from 2002 resulted from the drop-off of revenue from perpetual
licenses sold in prior years, maintenance cancellations, and the conversion of several software customers
to Managed Services. These declines were partially offset by an increase in software revenues from new
customers and expansion of arrangements with existing customers. Our top five software customers
accounted for 37% and 34% of our total software revenues in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

We expect 2004 software revenues to decrease because we do not expect new business to offset the
expiration of $2.5 million per year license fee from a Japanese customer and the drop-off of revenues

from perpetual licenses.

Services revenues. We derive services revenues from performance of implementation of software
for our customers, management consulting and training services.

Our services revenues fluctuate from quarter to guarter based on many factors, such as demand by
our customers, the number of billable days in a quarter, utilization and the number of new software
contracts executed in recent quarters. Historically, less than 30% of our services revenues have been
derived from implementation services performed in connection with new software license sales. Services
revenues were nearly constant from 2002 to 2003.

Our five iargest services customers accounted for 48% and 45% of our services revenues in 2003
and 2002, respectively.

In 2004, vlve expect services revenues to decrease slightly due to less expected project work with
several custom“ers.

Cost of Revenues

1

! For the Year Ended December 31,

I 2003 2002
Percent of Percent of
Segment Segment .
i Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Increase
! (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Cost of revenues:
Managed services . . ........ $30,133 55% $24,219 549% $5,914 24%
Software . ............... 2,671 23 2,533 20 138 5
Services. . .|...... ... ..... 13,807 74 13,756 74 51 —_
Total cost pf revenues . . . .. $46,611 55% $40,508 53% $6,103 15%

Cost of managed services revenues. Cost of managed services revenues consist of salaries and
related expenses for our Managed Services organization and amortization of capitalized internal use
software costs related to implementation and integration of our trade management platform to our
Managed Servi;ces operation.

The cost increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of managed services revenues was largely
due to our European expansion and several new contracts with lower profit margins than our earlier
contracts. These costs were partially offset by efficiencies we achieved in our U.S. operations as we
migrated from Ford’s technology systems to our own.

Cost of software revenues. Cost of software revenues includes royalties owed to third parties for
technology products integrated into our software products as well as the cost of salaries and related
expenses for our software customer support organization.

|
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The slight cost increase was largely due to our investment in our client support infrastructure. The
increase as a percentage of software revenues results from our additional investment in our client
support infrastructure to support our new product offerings, as well as a reduction in our software
revenues. We expect the cost of software revenues as a percentage of software revenues to be relatively
constant in the foreseeable future.

Cost of services revennes. Cost of services revenues includes the cost of salaries and related
expenses for implementation, management consulting and training services provided to clients, as well
as the cost of third parties we contract with to provide either implementation services or trade
management consulting to our clients.

From quarter to quarter as customer demand fluctuates, the cost of services revenues will fluctuate
based on actions we take to align our personnel capacity with demand, such as changes in our use of
subcontractors, delays or accelerations of hiring personnel and the temporary deployment of resources
to or from other business segments. The slight change in cost of services revenues from 2003 to 2002 is
consistent with the slight change in services revenues.

We expect the cost of services to fluctuate relative to services revenues in 2004, but remain
relatively consistent on a percentage of services revenues basis for the year.

Operating Expenses
For the Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002
Percent of Percent of
Total Total
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Increase (Decrease) -
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)

Sales and marketing . . ... ... $ 9,163 11% $11,974 16% $(2,811) (23)%
Research and development . . . 11,895 14 13,189 17 (1,294) (10)
General and administrative . . . 11,023 13 9,608 13 1,415 15
Depreciation . ............ 5,170 6 4,643 6 527 11

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and commissions
earned by sales and marketing personnel, public relations, trade shows and travel expenses related to
both promotional events and direct sales efforts.

The decrease in sales and marketing costs resulted primarily from cost actions we took, principally
personnel reductions to reduce salaries, commissions, and travel costs. We anticipate sales and
marketing expense to increase in absolute dollars in 2004 as discussed previously.

Research and development. Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries,
benefits, and equipment for personnel who develop and support software for external sale and use in
our Managed Services business.

The decrease in research and development costs also was primarily from cost actions we took,
principally personnel reductions. These actions included a reduction in personnel and the transfer of
some of our research and development activities to locations with lower labor costs. We anticipate
research and development expense to increase in absolute dollars in 2004 as discussed previously.

General and administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries,
benefits, and outside accounting, legal and insurance fees and related costs for executive, finance, legal,
human resources, administrative and information services personnel.
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The increase in these costs resulted from additional professional fees to manage our domestic
affairs and international expansion, higher legal fees, and severance costs. We anticipate general and
administrative expense to remain relatively constant in 2004.

Depreciation. The increase resulted from the depreciation of fixed assets we purchased to build
the technology infrastructure needed to support growth of our business. Most of these new assets were
related to build out our data center. We expect our depreciation expense to increase in absolute dollars
in 2004 as we continue to invest in our infrastructure.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002
Percent of Percent of
Total Total
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Increase (Decrease)
! (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)

Intangible amortization

EXPENSe . . .ot e i $ 2,842 3% $2,608 3% $ 234 9%
Restructuring. . . .......... (228) — 3,336 4 (3,564) (107)
Impairment of goodwill and

intangible assets . ........ 69,005 81 — — 69,005 100
Stock-based compensation . . . 942 1 2,619 3 (1,677) (64)

Intangible amortization expense. The increase resulted from the effect of amortizing the
identified intangible assets acquired in the three acquisitions completed in the first quarter of 2002 for
a full year in 2Q03, and the additional amortization from the identified intangible assets acquired from
GE in the second quarter of 2003. These increases were offset slightly by a decrease in fluctuations in
foreign currency rates and the related translations into US dollars.

As a resultiof the 2003 impairment charges we previously described, we expect amortization of
intangibles in future periods to be approximately $964,000, $384,000, $384,000, $90,000, and $41,000 for
the years ending December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively.

Restructuring. We recorded a restructuring charge of $3.3 million during 2002. Costs associated
with the termination of approximately 74 employees totaled approximately $1.1 million. Costs
associated with ﬁhe closing of redundant facilities, the cancellation of certain contracts, and other
non-personnel related actions totaled approximately $2.2 million. We paid approximately $300,000,
$750,000 and $794,000 of restructuring costs in the second, third and fourth quarters of 2002,
respectively, and wrote off property and equipment of approximately $220,000. We reduced the
restructuring reserve during the fourth quarter of 2002 by approximately $274,000, based on differences
between actual costs incurred compared to our original estimates. During the fourth quarter of 2003,
we negotiated a favorable buy-out of the lease on one of our facilities we closed, which resulted in a
benefit of $228,000 that we recorded on the restructuring line item. As of December 31, 2003, the
remaining restructuring reserve was approximately $112,000.

Impairment lof goodwill and intangible assets. During 2003, we recorded a $69.0 million
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets associated with our prior acquisitions. The impairment
reflects the results of our annual assessment of the value of goodwill and intangible asset, as previously
discussed. ‘

Stock-based compensation. Our stock based compensation resulted from options issued to

" employees prior to our initial public offering in 2000 with exercise prices less than fair value and from
options issued to jemployees in connection with our acquisition of Speedchain in 2001. We record stock
based compensation on an accelerated basis and, accordingly, the 2003 expense was lower than the




2002 expense. We expect to amortize the remaining deferred compensation of approximately $46,000 in
the quarter ending March 31, 2004.

Other Inco_me (Expenses) and Income Taxes

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002 Increase (Decrease)
(in thousands)  (in thousands)  (in thousands)
Other income (expenses), i€t . ... ............. $ 597 $ 922 $(325) (35)%
Income taxes. .......... ... ... . .. (583) (173) (410) 237

Other income (expenses), net. Other income (expenses), net fluctuates based on the amount of
cash balances available for investment, borrowings under our lines of credit, interest and other expenses
related to our equipment borrowings, and realized gains and losses on investments. The decrease from
2002 to 2003 resulted primarily from lower prevailing interest rates.

Income taxes. In 2003, our income tax provision was comprised of federal, state, and foreign
taxes. In 2003, the federal tax provision resulted from the limitation applied to net operating losses for
alternative minimum tax purposes. No provision for federal income taxes was recorded for 2002, due to
accumulated net operating losses. We have recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our
net deferred tax assets as a result of the uncertainty surrounding the timing of the realization of these
future tax benefits.

As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately $70.5 million of federal net operating losses,
which may be carried forward to offset future taxable income, subject to ownership change limitations.
As defined under the Internal Revenue Code, substantial changes in our ownership have occurred. As a
result, future utilization of these net operating carryforwards that we accumulated prior to the change
in ownership are subject to annual limitations. As of December 31, 2003, $10.3 million of the net
operating loss carryforwards were attributable to tax deductions related to the exercise of stock options
and the remainder to operating activities. Federal net operating loss carryforwards may be used to
offset up to 90% of our alternative minimum taxable income. As of December 31, 2003, we had
alternative minimum tax and research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately
$141,000 and $1.2 million respectively. As of December 31, 2003, we also had approximately
$24.6 million of foreign net operating losses, which may be carried forward to offset future taxable
income. The net operating loss and research and development tax credit carryforwards will begin to
expire in 2011.

Comparisoh of Year Ended December 31, 2002 to Year Ended December 31, 2001

Revenues

For the Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001

Percent Percent
Amount of Tota) Amount of Total Increase (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Managed services . ........... $45,216 59% $32,765 51% $12,451 38%
Software .. ................. 12,523 16 13,727 21 (1,204) 9
Services ... ... 18,639 25 18,432 28 207 1
Total reveniues ... .......... $76,378 100%  $64,924 100% $11,454 18%

Managed services revenues. We attribute the increase in managed services revenues to the
continued growth in our automotive and high-tech Managed Services client base and expansion of our
responsibilities with existing customers, primarily with Ford, Lucent, and Nortel.
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Software revenues. The decrease in software revenues was due to $2.25 million of nonrecurring
revenue recognized in 2001 related to the expiration of a Japanese customer’s annual minimum period
in connection with our reseller arrangement. Excluding the nonrecurring revenue recognized from this
Japanese customer in 2001, total software revenue increased in 2002 by approximately $1.1 million, or
8%, from 2001.

Services revenues. Services revenue was relatively constant from 2001 to 2002.

Cost of Revenues

For the Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001
Percent of Percent of
) Segment Segment
' Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Increase (Decrease)
! (in thowsands) {in thousands) (in thousands)
Cost of Revenues:
Managed services . . ... ... $24,219 54% $17,019 52% $7,200 42%
Software . ............. 2,533 20 2,406 18 127 5
Services . .. l........ ... 13,756 74 14,018 76 (262) (2)
Total cost éf revenues . . . $40,508 53% $33,443 = 52% $7,065 21%

1

Cost of @1anaged services revenues. The increase in cost of managed services revenues was
largely due to the growth of our Managed Services operations to support our growing client base and
our European expansion. The increase as a percentage of managed services revenues reflects our
additional personnel and infrastructure costs related to our European expansion. Over time, we expect
to realize productivity improvements from our investment in our support infrastructure and the
leveraging of personnel in the performance of our Managed Services agreements. As we enter into
large multi-year Managed Services agreements in new industry sectors or new geographic regions that
may require significant investments in the related infrastructure, the costs associated with these
Managed Services agreements may be greater in the initial year than in the later years when we expect
to realize productivity improvements from these infrastructure investments.

Cost of software revenues. The increase in cost of software revenues was largely due to our
investment in our client support infrastructure. The increase as a percentage of software revenues
reflects our a(%ditional investment in our client support infrastructure and the effect of $2.25 million of
nonrecurring software revenue recognized in the third quarter of 2001.

Cost of séwices revenues. Cost of services revenues was relatively constant from 2001 to 2002.

Operating Expenses

! For the Year Ended December 31,

1 2002 2001

‘ Percent Percent

! of Total of Total

| Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Increase (Decrease)

! . (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Sales and marketing . ... .... $11,974 16% $18,154 28% $(6,180) 3%
Research and t}evelopment ce 13,189 17 14,583 22 (1,394) - (10)
General and administrative . . . 9,608 13 9,053 14 555 6
Depreciation ... ........... 4,643 6 3,239 5 1,404 43
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Sales and marketing. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to a
reduction in annual bonuses paid to our employees, a reduction in personnel, and a reduction in
promotional expenses.

Research and development. The decrease in research and development expenses was primarily
due to reductions in annual bonuses paid to our employees, personnel, and the number of internal and
contract software developers and quality assurance personnel used to support our product development
and testing activities,

General and administrative. The increase in general and administrative expenses resulted from
the addition of personnel to support the growth of our business and legal and professional fees relating
to our international expansion.

Depreciation. The increase in depreciation expense resulted from the depreciation of fixed assets
purchased to build the infrastructure needed to support the growth of our business.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001
Percent Percent
of Total of Total
2002 Revenue 2001 Revenue Increase (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Intangible amortization
EXPENSE . .ot ve $2,608 3%  $22,309 34%  $(19,701) (88)%
Restructuring . .. .......... 3,336 4 — — 3,336 100
In-process research and
development . ........... — — 6,901 11 (6,901) (100)
Stock-based compensation. . . . 2,619 3 5,626 9 (3,007) (53)

Amortization. The decrease in amortization expense resulted from our adoption of the
nonamortization approach under SFAS No. 142 for our goodwill. As of January 1, 2002, we had
unamortized goodwill of approximately $62.2 million, including amounts reclassified from our
assembled workforce intangible assets to goodwill.

Restructuring. We recorded approximately $2.0 million and $1.6 million of restructuring costs,
respectively, during the second and third quarter of 2002. Costs associated with the termination of
approximately 74 employees totaled approximately $1.1 million. Costs associated with the closing of
redundant facilities, the canceliation of certain contracts, and other non-personnel related actions
totaled approximately $2.2 million. We paid approximately $300,000, $750,000 and $794,000 of
restructuring costs in the second, third and fourth quarters of 2002, respectively, and wrote off property
and equipment of approximately $220,000. We reduced the restructuring reserve during the fourth
quarter of 2002 by approximately $274,000, based on differences between actual costs incurred
compared to our original estimates.

In-process research and development. During 2001, we incurred a one-time IPR&D charge of
approximately $6.9 million associated with the acquisition of Speedchain. We valued IPR&D acquired
in the Speedchain acquisition consummated on March 29, 2001 at approximately $6.9 million, based on
an independent appraisal of the development project for which technological feasibility has not been
established and no alternative future uses exist. The acquired IPR&D project was targeted at the
supply chain event management and e-logistics market.

Stock-based compensation. We recorded deferred compensation of approximately $6.4 million in
the last nine months of 1999 and approximately $13.1 million in 2000. These amounts represent the
aggregate difference between the exercise price and the fair value for accounting purposes of the
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underlying common stock at the date of grant. On March 29, 2001, we recorded $465,000 of deferred
compensation|in connection with the unvested stock options that were assumed in connection with the
Speedchain acquisition. These amounts are included as a component of stockholders’ equity and are
being amortized on an accelerated basis over the applicable vesting period.

Other Income (lExpenses), Net and Income Taxes

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2002 2001 Increase (Decrease)
. (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Other income kexpenses), net . ... $ 922 $2,937 $(2,015) (6N %
INCOme taxes .\ . oo oo (173) (306) 133 (43)

Other income (expenses), net. Other income (expenses), net fluctuates, based on the amount of
cash balances dvailable for investment, borrowings under our line of credit, interest and other expenses
related to our equipment borrowings and realized gains and losses on investments. The decrease in
other income (expenses), net resulted from less interest income due to lower interest rates and the
decrease in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments balances as we continue to use of our
cash resources to fund our operations and acquire companies.

Income taxes. In 2002 and 2001, the tax provision was comprised of state and foreign taxes. No
provision for federal income taxes has been recorded for 2002 or 2001 due to our accumulated net
operating losses. We have recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax
assets as a result of the uncertainty surrounding the timing of the realization of these future tax
benefits.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Obligations
Lines of Credit

We have a term loan, a secured revolving line of credit, and an equipment line of credit with
Comerica Bank. The term loan matures in June 2004 and bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus
50 basis points (4.5% as of December 31, 2003). The balance outstanding under the term loan was
approximately $1.0 million as of December 31, 2003.

We may botrow up to $10 million under the revolving line of credit, with a $2.5 million sub-limit
for the issuance of letters of credit, Advances under the revolving line of credit are limited to the lesser
of $10 million or 80% of cligible accounts receivable, as defined in the loan agreement. The revolving
line of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime rate (4.0% as of December 31, 2003) and matures in
July 2004. There! was no outstanding balance under the revolving line of credit as of December 31,
2003. ‘

In the first and third quarters of 2003, we borrowed approximately $614,000 and $488,000,
respectively against the equipment line of credit. The availability under the Equipment Line of Credit
expired in July 2003. Commencing on July 31, 2003, interest and principal began to be payable in
monthly installmeénts on all borrowings made under the equipment line of credit, which matures in full
on July 30, 2005. The outstanding balance under the Equipment Line of Credit was approximately
$796,000 as of December 31, 2003, of which $490,000 was classified as current on our balance sheet.
The Equipment Line of Credit has two interest-only payment periods and bears interest at the bank’s
prime rate plus 5@ basis points (4.5% as of December 31, 2003).

V

|
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The terms of the revolving line of credit and equipment line of credit require us to comply with
several financial covenants, including restrictions and limitations on future indebtedness, sale of assets
and material changes in our business. The financial covenants include a minimum modified quick ratio,
as defined in the loan agreement, of 2.0 to 1.0 and a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net
worth of 1.5 to 1.0. Under the most restrictive of these financial covenants, our quarterly pro forma
income (loss), as defined, cannot be less than zero. Pro forma income (loss) is defined in the loan
agreement as net income, plus interest expense, taxes, non-cash charges (including depreciation,
amortization, stock-based compensation, impairment charges, research and development related charges
and one-time restructuring charges), and cash restructuring charges (not to exceed $5.0 million in the
aggregate), less interest income and any one-time or non-recurring revenue. Through December 31,
2003, we were in compliance with these covenants and expect to be in compliance for at least the next
12 months.

We expect to obtain a new $10 million revolving line of credit to replace the current one that
expires in July 2004,
Leases

We have various capital leases with 36-month to 48-month repayment periods. In March 2003, we
obtained a new equipment leasing arrangement with a vendor for approximately $886,000. Amounts
borrowed are due over 36 months. Total capital lease obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2003,
were approximately $692,000.

We lease various equipment and office space under operating lease agreements expiring at various
dates through 2013. In addition to base rent, we are responsible for certain taxes, utilities, and
maintenance costs.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations (in thousands)

Payment due by period

Less than 1.3 3.5 More than
Total 1 year Years Years 5 Years
Line of credit obligations . .. .................. $ 1,81 $1495 §$ 306 $§ — § —
Capital lease obligations . . . .. ................. 764 372 392 — —
Operating lease obligations. . . ................. 15,242 3,219 5,411 3,160 3,452
Total ... e $17,807 $5,086 $6,109 $3,160  $3,452

Guarantees

In some of our software license arrangements, we have agreed to indemnify customers for any
damages they sustain from a claim for intellectual property infringement. Additionally, subject to
specified contractual limitations on amount, under our Managed Services agreements, we have agreed
to indemnify our customers for any damages they sustain from our performance of Managed Services
in a non-compliant manner. Although we do not believe that our products infringe the intellectual
property rights of any third party or that we are performing services in a non-compliant manner, we
cannot estimate our maximum liability exposure, because of the inherent uncertainty associated with
any such claims and the varying nature of the indemnification levels to which we have agreed.

31




Cash Flows

For the Year Ended

December 31,
2003 2002
! (in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, end of year. . .......... $56,448 $ 56,957
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, beginning of year ... .. .. 56,957 73,771
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. . $ (509) $(16,814)

The mainireasons for the changes in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments from
2002 to 2003 were:

* Lower capital expenditures;
* Lower cash payments for restructuring activities;
* Lower acquisition costs; and

* Increased cash from operations.

Future Cash Investment Needs

We intend|to continue investing in the expansion of our business, particularly to build out our
global platform and infrastructure. As discussed in our overview, we intend to increase spending on
operating expenses by $2.0 million to $3.0 million in 2004. Additionally, we anticipate spending more
on our Managed Services operations in 2004 than we did in 2003. Our future liquidity and capital
requirements will depend on numerous factors, including;

* The costs and timing of expansion of our sales and marketing activities;
* The costs and timing of expansion of our operating capabilities;

* The costs and timing of our product development efforts and the success of those development
efforts;

* The exteht to which our existing and new products and services gain market acceptance;
* The levei and timing of our revenues;

* The costs involved in maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights; and

. Availablei borrowings under line of credit and capital lease arrangements.

Accordingly, until we generate and sustain profits from our operations to fund these investments
fully, our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments are likely to continue to decline. In
addition, we may use cash resources to fund acquisitions of complementary businesses and
technologies. We believe that our current cash resources will be sufficient to meet our working capital
and capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. Thereafter, we may find it necessary to obtain
additional equity or debt financing. In the event that we need additional financing, we may not be able
to raise it on terms acceptable to us, if at all.
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ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We develop solutions in the United States and market them in North America, and to a lesser
extent, in Europe, Latin America, and the Asia-Pacific region. Our financial results could be affected
by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign
markets. With most of our sales being generated in U.S. dollars, a strengthening of the dollar could
make our products less competitive in foreign markets.

We currently do not use financial instruments to hedge the operating expenses of our foreign
subsidiaries. We intend to assess the need to utilize financial instruments to hedge currency exposures
on an ongoing basis. Amounts outstanding under our secured revolving line of credit arrangement
exposes us to interest rate risk if the prime rate increases. We had approximately $1.8 million in
variable rate debt as of December 31, 2003. Our interest income is sensitive to changes in U.S. interest
rates, particularly since the majority of our investments are in short-term instruments. Due to the
short-term nature of our investments, we believe that there is no material risk exposure. We do not
hold or issue derivative securities, derivative commodity instruments, or other financial instruments for
trading purposes. Therefore, no quantitative tabular disclosures are required.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements, and related notes thereto, of Vastera and the
Reports of Independent Auditors are filed as part of this Form 10-K.

Independent Auditors’ Report — KPMG LLP
Report of Independent Public Accountants — Arthur Andersen LLP
Consolidated {Balance Sheets as of December 31,2003 and 2002 ................. ... .... 37
Consolidated |Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 .. 38

Consolidated 'Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 . . . oo e e e 39

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 . 40
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ... ........ .. . .. 41
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Vastera, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vastera, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, statements of
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. In connection with our audits
of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the accompanying financial statement
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.
These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit. The consolidated financial statements
of Vastera, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors
who have ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements, before the restatement and the revision described in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, in their report dated January 23, 2002.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Vastera, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of Vastera, Inc. and subsidiaries for the
year ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. As
described in Note 2, the Company changed the composition of its reportable segments in 2002, and the
amounts in the 2001 financial statements relating to reportable segments have been restated to conform
to the 2002 composition of reportable segments. Also as described in Note 2, the Company adopted
EITF Topic D-103 as of January 1, 2002, which requires reimbursable travel expenses be classified as
revenue, and the revenues and cost of revenues in the 2001 financial statements have been restated to
conform to the 2002 presentation. We audited the adjustments that were applied to restate the amounts
relating to reportable segments reflected in the 2001 consolidated financial statements and the
adjustments that were applied, as a result of the adoption of EITF Topic D-103, to restate the revenues
and costs of revenues in the 2001 consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments
are appropriate and have been properly applied. As described in Note 3, the 2001 consolidated
financial statements have also been revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which
was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002. In our opinion, the transitional disclosures for
2001 in Note 3 are appropriate. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any
procedures to the 2001 consolidated financial statements of Vastera, Inc. and subsidiaries other than
with respect to such adjustments and disclosures and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any
other form of assurance on the 2001 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

McLean, Virginia
January 28, 2004
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To Vastera, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vastera, Inc. (a Delaware
corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whetherithe financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opihion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Vastera, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the
results of their loperations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s{ Arthur Andersen LLP
Arthur Andersen LLP

Vienna, Virginia
January 23, 2002

l

i

This is a copy of the report previously issued by Arthur Andersen LLP.
As discussed in Exhibit 23.2, this report has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP.
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VASTERA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)

J
December 31,
2003 2002
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ... ..... R $ 16,046 § 23,696
ShOTt-term INVESIMENTS . . . . v vt e e ettt e et e et e e e e 40,402 33,261
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $994 and
$948, respectively . .. .. 17,599 18,409
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .. ......... . ... ... 4,212 2,535
Total CUITEME @SSELS . . v v v vt it e e e et e et e et e e e e 78,259 77,901
Property and equipment, net . .......... ... ... o 10,806 11,934
Intangible assets, N6t . . . . ... . L 1,863 9,098
Goodwill . . ..o e 5,044 65,657
Deposits and other assets . . . . ..ottt it 1,292 974
TOtAl ASSEES .« v e $ 97,264 §$ 165,564
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Line of credit and capital lease obligations, current . .................. $ 1,867 $ 2,150
Accounts payable . . . .. L e 921 4,277
ACCTUE XPENSES . . o v e e et e e e 5,260 6,937
Accrued compensation and benefits . ......... .. ... oL 3,452 1,543
Deferred revenue, CUrrent ... ...ttt e e 9,451 9,446
Total current liabilities . ... ... ... . 20,951 24,353
Long-term liabilities:
Line of credit and capital lease obligations, net of current portion ........ 698 1,078
Deferred revenue, net of current portion. . . ............ ... ... .. ..., 2,393 2,476
Total Habilities . . . ..o v e 24,042 27,907
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; 41,745 and
40,490 shares issued and outstanding, respectively. . . . ...... ... .. ... 417 405
Additional paid-in capital . ... ... L L 327,234 323,010
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ....... ... .. .. o oL (715) (2,280)
Deferred compensation ... .. ...ttt (46) (988)
Accumulated deficit . . . .. ... .. e (253,668)  (182,490)
Total stockholders’ equity . . .. ... ...t 73,222 137,657
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . ........ ... ... ... ... ... $ 97,264 §$ 165,564

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VASTERA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Revenues:
Managed SEIVICES TEVEMUES . . .\ v ot vttt ettt e et e e e e e $ 55,246 § 45216 $ 32,765
Software TeVenuUEs ... ...... ...t 11,382 12,523 13,727
SETVICES TEVEIMUES . o . v vt i e e et e et e e e 18,603 18,639 18,432
TOLal TEVENMUES . .« o vttt et ettt et 85231 76,378 64,924
Cost of revenues:
Cost of managed services revenues (excluding stock-based
compensation of $26, $73 and $161, respectively) . ............. 30,133 24,219 17,019
Cost of software revenues {excluding stock-based compensation of
$4, $13 and $24, respectively) ... ... e 2,671 2,533 2,406
Cost of services revenues (excluding stock-based compensation of
$132, $366/and $788, respectively) .. ...... ... oL 13,807 13,756 14,018
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (excluding stock-based compensation of $378,
$1,051 and, $2,257, respectively) . .. ......... .. ... ..l 9,163 11,974 18,154
Research and development (excluding stock-based compensation of
$92, $255 and $546, respectively) . .. ... 11,895 13,189 14,583
General and administrative (excluding stock-based compensation of
$310, $861 jand $1,850, respectively) . ... ... ... ... ... ... 11,023 9,608 9,053
Depreciation . . ... 5,170 4,643 3,239
Intangible amortization eXpense ... ... ..vovvinu i 2,842 2,608 22,309
Restructuring. . .. ... .. (228) 3,336 —
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets . .. ................ 69,005 — —
In-process research and development . ....................... — — 6,901
Stock-based compensation . .......... ... 942 2,619 5,626
Total operating eXpenses . . . . .. ...ttt it 109,812 47977 79,865
Loss from Operations . . ........ ... it (71,192) (12,107) (48,384)
Other income {(expense):
Interest and otherincome . ... ... ... ... 698 1,362 3,373
Interest and Other EXpense . ... ... ..ottt (101) (440) (436)
Total other incOme (EXPENSE) . . . .\ vt v e i an s 597 922 2,937
Loss before income taxes .. ............. i {70,595) (11,185) (45,447)
INCOME TAXES & .« . vttt et e e e (583) (173) (306)
Net loss attribmable to common stockholders .................. $(71,178) $(11,358) $(45,753)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share . ... ............... $§ (1.73) § (0.28) § (1.22)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding . . ... ............. 41,128 40,019 37,650

The accémpanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



VASTERA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Comprehensive Common Stock Paid-In  Comprehensive  Deferred  Accumulated
Income (Loss) Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Compensation Deficit Total

Balance, December 31,2000 . ... ... 36,336 $363  $292,887 $ 66 $(8,927) $(125,379) $159,010
Netloss ................... (45,753) — — — — — (45,753)  (45,753)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (70} — — — (70 — — (70)
Net unrealized gain on investments . . . 244 — — — 244 — — 244
Comprehensive loss . . ... ....... $(45,579)
Exercise of stock options . . .. ... .. 1,142 12 3,066 — —_— — 3,078
Exercise of warrants . . . ... ... ... 77 1 293 — — — 294
Deferred stock compensation . . . . .. — — 465 — (465) — —
Amortization of deferred stock

compensation, net of adjustments — — (159) — 5,785 — 5,626
Issuance of common stock in

connection with acquisition . . .. .. 944 9 13,542 —_ — — 13,551
Issuance of common stock for

employee stock purchase plan. . . . . 193 2 1,836 — — — 1,838
Balance, December 31, 2001 .. ... .. 38,692  $387  $311,930 $ 240 $(3,607) $(171,132) $137.818
Netloss ................... (11,358) — — — — — (11,358)  (11,358)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (2,254) —_ — — (2,254) — — (2,259)
Net unrealized loss on investments . . . (266) — — — (266) — — (266)
Comprehensive loss . . ... ....... $(13,878)
Exercise of stock options . . . ... ... 965 10 2,530 —_ _ — 2,540
Amortization of deferred stock

compensation . . . .. ... .. ... —_ —_ — — 2,619 —_ 2,619
Issuance of common stock in

connection with acquisition . . .. .. 473 4 7,000 — — — 7,004
Issuance of common stock for

employee stock purchase plan. . . . . 360 4 1,550 — — — 1,554
Balance, December 31, 2002 . ... . .. 40,490 3405  $323,010 $(2,280) $ (988) $(182,490) $137,657
Netloss . ... ..o, (71,178} — — — — — (7L,178) (71,178}
Foreign currency translation adjustment * 1,638 — — — 1,638 — — 1,638
Net unrealized loss on investmeats . . . (73) — — — (73) — — (73)
Comprehensive loss . . ... ....... $(69,613)
Exercise of stock options . . . ... ... 876 8 2,742 — —_ -— 2,750
Amortization of deferred stock

compensation. . . .... ... ... .. — — — — 942 — 942
Issuance of common stock in

connection with acguisition . ... .. S1 1 31 — — — 312
Issuance of common stock for

employee stock purchase plan . . . . . 328 3 1,171 — — — 1,174
Balance, December 31,2003 . ... ... 41,745  $417  $327,234 $ (715) $ (46 $(253,668) § 73,222

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VASTERA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities: ,
Nt 0SS e vt e e e $(71,178) $(11,358) $(45,753)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities:

Stock-based compensation . . ..............iiiieaiana.. 042 2,619 5,626
Depreciation and intangible amortization expense ............ 8,012 7,251 25,548
Provision| for allowance for doubtful accounts ............... 372 604 1,079
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. . .............. 69,005 — —
In-process research and development ..................... — — 6,901
Amortization of revenue discount related to customer contracts . . 320 300 300
Amortization of capitalized internal-use software costs . . ....... 502 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accountsireceivable . . ....... ... . .. . L 996 (4,783)  (4,210)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .. ............... (1,518) (54) (834)
Deposits and other assets . . . ... ... (346) (460) (312)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . .......... .. ..., (5,250) 1,400 (1,707)
Accrued compensation and benefits .. ........... ... .. .. .. 1,861 (3,020) (484)
Deferred reVenue . ... .. ..o it (196) 2,755 (4,450)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. ........... 3,522 (4,746)  (18,296)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions ‘of subsidiaries . .............. ... ... . ... ... (3,000)  (5,682) —
Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments ............... (7,214) 29,262 8,433
Acquisition of property and equipment. . ... ... ... .. (3,334)  (7,393) (2,015)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . ........... (13,548) 16,187 6,418
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants. ... .................. — — 294
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and issuance of
common stock for the employee stack purchase plan .. ...... .. 3,924 4,094 4916
Principal payments on long-term debt. ... ... ... ... ... ...... (2,730)  (2,712)  (2,002)
Proceeds from equipment line of credit ... .................. 1,102 — —
Net cash provided by financing activities. . . .................. 2,296 1,382 3,208
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash
eqQUIVAlENES, . . e 80 (109) (41)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... ....... (7,650) 12,714 (8,711)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .. ............... 23,696 10,982 19,693

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year. . .. .................. $ 16,046 §$ 23696 §$ 10,982

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VASTERA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Company:
Nature of the Business

Vastera, Inc. (“Vastera” or the “Company”} is a leading provider of solutions for Global Trade
Management and was incorporated in Virginia in November 1991 under the name Export Software
International, Inc. The Company reincorporated in Delaware in July 1996 and changed its name to
Vastera, Inc. in June 1997. The Company’s principal solutions offerings include software solutions,
Trade Management Consulting, and Managed Services. Managed Services range from management of a
specific global trade function to providing complete management of a client’s global trade operations.
The Company has operations in the United States, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, France, Germany, Ireland,
Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Poland, Spain, and the United Kingdom.

The Company’s operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including among others,
uncertainties relating to product development, rapidly changing technology, current and potential
competitors with greater financial, technological, production, and marketing resources, the potential
loss of significant customers, dependence on key management personnel, limited protection of
intellectual property and proprietary rights, uncertainty of future profitability and possible fluctuations
in financial results.

Acquisitions

As discussed in Note 3, in December 2003, the Company recorded an impairment charge related
to goodwill and certain intangible assets acquired in these and other acquisitions.

2003 Acquisition

On June 19, 2003, the Company acquired General Electric Company’s (“GE”) internal U.S.
customs import operations. The Company also entered into a Managed Services agreement pursuant to
which the Company will manage the U.S. customs import operations for five of GE’s U.S. divisions for
a minimum term of 3 years. The results of GE’s internal U.S. customs import operations are included
in the Company’s operations beginning July 1, 2003, the effective date of the acquisition.

In exchange for selling the Company its internal U.S. customs import operations, GE received
$3.0 million in cash and 51,046 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at approximately
$312,000. The purchase price, including transaction costs of approximately $62,000, has been
preliminarily allocated based on fair values as follows (in thousands):

Value
Prepaid eXpenses . . ... .. e e $ 126
Property and equipment .. ......... .. ... ... i 150
Acquired technology and know-how . .. ....... .. ... ... .. ... ..., 1,000
GE contract and customer relationship. . .. ......... . ... ... .. .. ... 200
Goodwill . .. 1,898

$3,374

Beginning July 1, 2003, the amount allocated to the acquired technology and know-how intangible
is being amortized on a straight-line basis over five years, the estimated useful life of the asset.
Beginning July 1, 2003, the amount allocated to the GE contract and customer relationship is being
amortized as a discount to revenue over five years, the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2002 Acquisitions

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company acquired companies in Mexico, Canada, and Brazil. The
shares of common stock issued by the Company were valued at the average of the closing prices for the
three days before and the three days after the date each acquisition’s definitive terms were finalized.

On January 3, 2002, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Prisma
Tecnologia Computacional, S.A. de C.V. (“Prisma”) for approximately $5.3 million. Prisma is a provider
of Global Trade Management solutions in Mexico. The Company consummated this transaction on
February 1, 2002 and paid approximately $2.5 million in cash, issued approximately 150,000 shares of its
common stock,;valued at approximately $2.4 million and paid approximately $400,000 in transaction
and issuance costs,

On February 12, 2002, the Company acquired Imanet, an Ontario Corporation for approximately
$2.5 miilion. Imanet is a provider of Global Trade Management solutions in Canada. The Company
paid $850,000 in cash, issued approximately 90,000 shares of its common stock, valued at approximately
$1.4 million and paid approximately $300,000 in transaction and issuance costs.

On March 18, 2002, the Company acquired Bergen Informatica Ltda (“Bergen”) for approximately
$6.4 million. Bdrgen is a provider of Global Trade Management solutions in Brazil. The Company paid
$2.4 million in ¢ash, issued approximately 223,000 shares of its common stock, valued at approximately
$3.1 million and incurred approximately $900,000 in transaction and issuance costs, including the
issuance of 10,000 shares of common stock valued at approximately $71,000 to an investment advisor.

The aggregate purchase price of the three 2002 acquisitions was determined as follows
(in thousands): '

1} Value
Fair vaﬂlue of common stock . . . ... .. $ 7,004
Cash consideration . . ... ...ttt 5,682
Assumed Habilities . ... ... . . e 28
Transaction costs and other . ... ... . i 1,525
Aggregate purchase price. ........... ... . Lo i $14,239
The purchaée price has been allocated as follows (in thousands):
| Value
CUITENT ASSELS & & v v v vt e ettt et ettt e et e $ 121
Property and equipment . ........... ... . . L o 205
Acquired technology and know-how . ................. ... ... ..... 10,300
Acquired CONTractS .. ... ... 400
Goodwill ... ... . .. . 3,986
Deferred reVenue .. ...ttt (773)
| $14,239

The amounté allocated to acquired technology and know how and acquired contracts are being
amortized on a straight-line method over the estimated useful life of these assets, which are five years
and one year, respectively.

1
|
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The following unaudited pro forma information (in thousands) has been prepared as if the 2002
acquisitions had occurred as of January 1, 2001.

Pro Forma for the  Pro Forma for the

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2002  December 31, 2001
(unaudited) (unaudited)
TOtal TEVENUCS .« . . o v vt et e e e e $77,005 $69,715
Net 10SS . . oo e (11,677) (48,704)
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per common share ............ (0.29) (1.28)

The unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that
would have occurred had the acquisition been made at the beginning of the periods presented or the
future results of the combined operations.

2001 Acquisition

On March 29, 2001, the Company acquired Speed Chain Network, Inc. (“Speedchain”), a
development stage company with no revenues since its inception in 1999. Speedchain was a supply
chain event management and global e-logistics solutions provider. The acquisition was effected through
the merger of Speedchain into one of Vastera’s wholly owned subsidiaries, Vastera Acquisition
Corporation. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and the
operating results of Speedchain have been included in the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company issued an aggregate of 944,485 shares
of common stock in exchange for all of the outstanding preferred stock and common stock of
Speedchain. The shares of common stock issued by the Company were valued at $14.00 per share, the
average of the closing prices for the three days before and three days after March 1, 2001, the date the
acquisition was announced. The Company also issued options to acquire approximately 24,000 shares of
its common stock in exchange for the vested Speedchain stock options assumed in the business
combination. The options were valued at approximately $328,000 using the Black-Scholes model
assuming 128% volatility, a risk-free interest rate of 6.19%, and an expected life of three years. On
March 29, 2001, the Company also issued options to acquire approximately 64,000 shares of its
common stock in exchange for the unvested Speedchain stock options assumed in the business
combination. Accordingly, the Company recorded $465,000 of deferred compensation that will be
amortized on an accelerated basis over the remaining vesting period of these options. The aggregate
purchase price was determined as follows (in thousands):

Value
Fair value of common stock . . . ... ... . . e $13,223
Fairvalue of options . . .. ... .. . . L 328
Assumed liabilities ... .. ... . e 3,401
Transaction costs and other . ... ... .. . . .. . . . .. e 1,860
Aggregate purchase price. ... ... ... ... o $18,812

The acquisition resulted in an allocation of the purchase price to the net tangible and intangible
assets of Speedchain, as well as the write-off of the portion of the purchase price allocated to
in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) projects. The Company has allocated the purchase
price based upon the fair values of the assets and the liabilities acquired.
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The purchase price has been allocated as follows (in thousands):

: Value
CUurrent @SSELS . . ..ottt § 38
Property and equipment . ............. ... i 57
Assembled workforce ... ... ... . e e 300
IP R&D . o 6,901
Goodyvill ................................................ 11,516

‘ $18,812

Prior to January 1, 2002, the amounts allocated to assembled workforce and goodwill were being
amortized on a straight-line method over the estimated useful life of these assets, which are two years
and four years, respectively. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, these intangible assets were no longer amortized after
January 1, 2002.

The Company valued TPR&D projects acquired in the acquisition at approximately $6.9 miilion,
based upon the results of an independent appraisal of the development projects for which technological
feasibility has not been established and no alternative future uses exist. The acquired IPR&D projects
are targeted at the supply chain event management and e-logistics market.

The value of the IPR&D projects identified was determined by estimating the future cash flows
from each of the respective projects at the assumed date of commercial feasibility, discounting these
net cash flows back to their present value and then applying a percentage of completion to the
calculated present value. The percentage of completion for the projects were determined using
milestones representing management’s estimate of effort, value added and degree of difficulty of the
portion of the projects completed as of March 29, 2001, as compared to the remaining research and
development tolbe completed to bring the projects to technical feasibility. Speedchain’s projects started
in February 2000 and, as of March 29, 2001, the Company estimated the projects were approximately
70% complete.

In connection with the Speedchain acquisition, the Company recognized approximately $550,000 in
liabilities as the [cost associated with closing redundant facilities and terminating certain employees.
These activities resulted in the termination of the employment of eight employees in connection with
the elimination of duplicative positions and the restructuring of certain operations. Approximately
$300,000 of this accrual was paid out in 2001 and the remaining accrual was paid out in 2002.

The fol]owiﬁg unaudited pro forma information (in thousands) has been prepared as if the
acquisition of Speedchain had occurred as of January 1, 2001, excluding the one-time IPR&D charge of
approximately $6.9 million.

Pro Forma for the
Year Ended

December 31, 2001
‘ (Unaudited)
TOtal FEVEIMUCS . « + v v v o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $64,924
NeEt 10SS + v oottt e (41,679)
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per common share ........... (1.11)

The unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that
would have occurred had the acquisition been made at the beginning of the periods presented or the
future results of the combined operations.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates that are most susceptible
to change are the Company’s estimates of collections of accounts receivable and the estimated lives and
the realization of its intangible assets.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenues consist of managed services revenues, software revenues, and services
revenues.

Managed Services Revenues

Managed services revenues are derived from agreements that provide for transaction or services
fees based on the performance and delivery of the Company’s Managed Services solutions. Managed
Services solutions include the processing of the Company’s clients’ customs entries and the classifying
of clients’ goods. Managed Services transaction arrangements are often subject to annual or quarterly
minimum transaction thresholds and revenues are recognized based on the lower of the cumulative
actual transactions processed using a weighted-average transaction rate or the cumulative amount
billable for the period. For those Managed Services transaction arrangements subject to annual
minimums and for those arrangements where the amount billable for interim periods is limited to the
pro-rata portion of the annual minimum, transactions processed in excess of the minimum in each
period are not billable, and, therefore, revenue is not recognized until the end of the related year.
Certain Managed Services arrangements are based upon a fixed services fee. Revenues associated with
these arrangements are recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement and limited to the
amounts billable. In addition, the Company may receive annual gainsharing fees under certain
Managed Services arrangements based on a percentage of the clients’ annual cost savings, as defined in
those Managed Services arrangements. These gainsharing fees are recognized when they become fixed
and determinable.

Software Revenues

Software revenues consist of term license revenues, perpetual software license revenues, and
transaction-based revenues. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of software products in
accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition.

Term license revenues are derived from term software license arrangements in which the
Company’s clients license its software products and obtain the right to unspecified enhancements on a
when-and-if-available basis, ongoing support and content update services. Content updates are
significant and frequent. Revenues are recognized ratably over the contract term. Term license
arrangements typically range from three to five years. To the extent the Company hosts the software for
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its customers, ithe hosting fee is recognized ratably over the contract period in conjunction with the
recognition of|the license fee. Term license fees are typically billed annually, quarterly or monthly.

Perpetualisoftware license revenues are derived from perpetual software license arrangements and
related maintenance contracts. Maintenance contracts include the right to unspecified enhancements on
a when-and-if ‘available basis, ongoing support, and content update services. The content updates
provided under maintenance arrangements are significant and frequent, and, as a result, revenues from
perpetual software license sales are recognized ratably over the estimated economic life of the product.
The Company has estimated that the life of the product is three years, which is consistent with the
historical periods between major upgrades to the functionality and architecture of its products.
Revenues from maintenance contracts are recognized ratably over the contract term, which is typically
one year. To the extent the Company hosts the software for its customers, the hosting fee is recognized
ratably over th:e contract period in conjunction with the recognition of the license fee.

Transaction-based revenues are derived from arrangements that provide for transaction fees based
on a client’s usage of the Company’s software products. Revenues from the usage of its software
products are recognized as transactions occur.

i

The Company recognizes revenues from arrangements with resellers beginning when the software
product is soldto the end user. Any annual transaction minimums not sold by the reseller to the end
customers are fecognized as revenues upon the expiration of the annual minimum period.

Services Revenues

Services revenues are derived from implementation, Trade Management Consulting and training
services. Services are performed on a time and materials basis or under fixed price arrangements.
Revenues on time and materials contracts are recognized based on fixed billable rates for hours
delivered, and revenues on fixed priced contracts and are recognized as the services are performed,
using the percentage of completion method of accounting based on the ratio of costs incurred to total
estimated costs ito be incurred. Losses on arrangements are recognized when known,

For multipfe-element arrangements where the Company provides both software and services, the
Company defers the service fee, based on vendor-specific objective evidence, and recognize it as the
services are performed.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues include amounts billed to clients for revenues that have not been recognized
and generally result from billed, but deferred license revenues and services not yet performed. Deferred
revenues are recognized on a monthly basis over the term of the agreement, the remaining economic
life of the product, or when the services are performed.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues includes the cost of managed services revenues, the cost of software revenues,
and the cost of services revenues.

Cost of managed services revenues consist of the cost of salaries and related expenses for the
Company’s Managed Services organization and the amortization of capitalized internal use software
costs related to the implementation and integration of the Company’s trade management platform to
the Managed Setvices operation.

Cost of software revenues includes royalties owed to third parties for technology products
integrated into the Company’s software products, as well as the cost of salaries and related expenses for
the technical support organization.
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Cost of services revenues includes the cost of salaries and related expenses for implementation,
management consulting and training services provided to clients, as well as the cost of third parties
contracted to provide either application consulting or implementation services or Trade Management
Consulting to the Company’s clients.

Internal Use Software

In accordance with SOP 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use, the Company capitalizes costs associated with the implementation and integration of its
trade management platform to its Managed Services operations. The Company capitalized
approximately $696,000 and $1.6 million of direct labor costs in 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to
the certain capitalizable tasks including the technical design, system configuration and testing phases of
the integration process. Judgment is involved in determining which development tasks associated with
the platform integration are capitalizable pursuant to SOP 98-1. These costs are amortized as costs of
managed services revenues over three years and amortization commences upon the completion of the
integration to the Vastera platform. Total amortization expense in 2003 and 2002 was approximately
$502,000 and $50,000, respectively. Net capitalized costs as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 were
approximately $1.7 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds, commercial paper,
government/federal notes and bonds, and certificates of deposit.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash and cash
equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, the line of credit, and capital lease
obligations approximate their fair value due to the relatively short duration of the instruments.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had approximately $485,000 and $57,000,
respectively, of unbilled revenue included in accounts receivable. Unbilled amounts primarily relate to
services performed but not yet billed under fixed price services arrangements.

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of its customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of the Company’s
customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.

Investments

The Company accounts for investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. The Company considers all of its investments to be
available-for-sale. Investments consist of commercial paper and government/federal notes and bonds
with maturities greater than 90 days. Investments are carried at fair market value.

Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related tax effect, on available-for-sale securities
are excluded from earnings and are reported as a separate component of other comprehensive income
in stockholders’ equity until realized. Realized gains and losses from the sale of available-for-sale
securities are determined on a specific-identification basis. A decline in the market value of any
available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary results in a reduction
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in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings and a new cost basis for the
security is established. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned.

In 2003, 2002, and 2001, the Company recognized net unrealized (losses) gains on investments in
debt securities of approximately $(73,000), $(266,000), and $244,000, respectively, as a component of
stockholders’ equity.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist
primarily of cash equivalents, short-term investments, and accounts receivable. The Company limits the
amount of mvestment exposure in any one financial instrument and does not have any foreign currency
investments. The Company sells products and services to customers across several industries throughout
the world without requiring collateral. However, the Company routinely assesses the financial strength
of its customers and maintains allowances for anticipated losses.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, Ford accounted for 25% and 16%, respectively, of total
accounts receivable. Lucent Technologies accounted for 7% and 19% of total accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Prepaid Commissions

The Compény defers commissions paid to employees and recognizes the expense ratably over the
term of the arrangement or in proportion to the recognition of the related revenue. Prepaid
commissions are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is carried at cost and depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over thd estimated useful lives of the assets, generally three to five years. Assets acquired
under capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the terms of the leases.

Goodwill and In&angible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over fair value of assets of businesses acquired. The
Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142, as of January 1, 2002. Goodwill and intangible
assets acquired in a purchase business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life are
not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 142. The Company’s assessment date is December 31 each year. SFAS No. 142 also requires
that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful
lives to their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.

In connection with SFAS No. 142’s transitional goodwill impairment evaluation, the Statement
required the Company to perform an assessment of whether there was an indication that goodwill was
impaired as of the date of adoption. To accomplish this, the Company was required to identify its
reporting units and determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning the assets and
liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units as of January 1,
2002. In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, as a first step, the Company was required to
determine the fair value of each reporting unit and compare it to the carrying amount of the reporting
unit within six months of January 1, 2002. To the extent the carrying amount of a reporting unit
exceeded the fair:value of the reporting unit, the Company would be required to perform the second
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step of the transitional impairment test, as this is an indication that the reporting unit goodwill may be
impaired. In the second step, the Company would have been required to compare the implied fair
value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill, both of
which were measured as of the date of adoption. The implied fair value of goodwill would have been
determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the assets (recognized and
unrecognized) and liabilities of the reporting unit in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation, in
accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations. The residual fair value after this allocation
would have been the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill. To the extent the implied fair
value of this reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount, the Company would be required to recognize
an impairment charge.

Prior to the January 1, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over its expected
economic life, generally four or five years, and assessed for recoverability by determining whether the
amortization of the goodwill balance over its remaining life could be recovered through the
undiscounted future operating cash flows of the acquired operation.

On January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 141, the Company reclassified its assembled
workforce intangible assets to goodwill. Prior to January 1, 2002, assembled workforce intangibles were
amortized on a straight-line basis over two or three years. The value assigned to the assembled
workforce in the acquisition of Ford’s global customs import operation was allocated to each country in
which the Company acquired Ford’s global customs import operations, based upon the number of
employees in that country. The related amortization was recorded over three years from the date the
Company assumed Ford’s customs import operations in that country.

All other intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over its expected economic life,
generally one to five years. The value assigned to the Ford contract in connection with the Ford
acquisition is being amortized as a discount to revenue over the minimum term of the contract.

Long-Lived Assets

SFAS No. 144 provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of. SFAS
No. 144 also changes the criteria for classifying an asset as held for sale; and broadens the scope of
businesses to be disposed of that qualify for reporting as discontinued operations and changes the
timing of recognizing losses on such operations. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1,
2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not affect the Company’s financial statements.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and
purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability
of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount
by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of
would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or
fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group
classified as held for sale would be presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of
the balance sheet.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 144, the Company accounted for long-lived assets in accordance
with SFAS No. 121, Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of.

49




——-——

Software Devielopment Costs

In accordance with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed, software development costs are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility
has been established, at which time such costs are capitalized until the product is available for general
release to customers. To date, the establishment of technological feasibility of the Company’s products
and general release of such software has substantially coincided. As a result, software development
costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant, and therefore, the Company has not
capitalized any software development costs related to software products developed for third party sales.

Research and "yDevelopment

Researchland development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs were
approximately$11.9 million, $13.2 million, and $14.6 million in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Stock Options|

The Comfbany has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation. The Company applies Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations in accounting for its Plans. No
options granted during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 were granted with exercise
prices that were less than fair value. The Company has deferred compensation balances from options
issued prior to 2001. The deferred compensation is recognized over the vesting period of the related
options using an accelerated method. In 2003, 2002, and 2001, the Company recognized compensation
expense of approximately $942,000, $2,619,000, and $5,626,000, respectively.

Had compensation expense for the Company’s 1996 Plan, 2000 Plan and Employee Stock Purchase
Plan been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under the Plans consistent
with the method of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net loss would have been increased to the pro forma
amounts mdlcated below (in thousands, except per share data).

Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Net loss applicable to common stockholders, as reported ... ....... $(71,178) $(11,358) $(45,753)
Add: stock- basé‘cl compensation included in net loss, net of tax . . .. .. 942 2,619 5,626
Deduct: stock- based compensation determined under the fair value
method for all awards, net of tax . ... ............ooouuo.... (16,384) (14,699) (16,689)
Net loss, pro forma ..................................... (86,620) (23,438) (56,816)
Pro forma net loss percommon share . .............c..ou.u.... (2.11) (0.59) (1.51)

For purposes of the SFAS No. 123 disclosure, the fair value of each option is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions used for
grants issued during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Years ended December 31,

1 2003 2002 2001

Dividend yield ... ... ...ttt 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility. . ... ... 100-120% 118% 86%
Average risk-free; interest rate — 2000 Plan ... ............ 1.66-3.25% 3.06% 4.09%
Average risk-free interest rate — Employee Stock Purchase

Plan . ..o 0.98-1.02% 1.06% 4.09%
Expected term—2 000 Plan ........ ... ... . o 3-5 years 3 years 3 years
Expected term—Employee Stock Purchase Plan ... ......... 6 months 6 months 6 months
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Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are provided utilizing the asset and liability method as prescribed by SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary
differences and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized
for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for
the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. Deferred tax assets are reduced
by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss applicable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted
net loss per common share includes the potential dilution that would occur if securities or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. As of December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, options to purchase approximately 8,436,000, 4,776,000, and 7,533,000 shares of
common stock were outstanding, respectively. Due to the anti-dilutive effect of the options, they have
been excluded from on the calculation of weighted-average shares for diluted earnings per share. As a
result, the basic and diluted loss per share amounts are identical.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s functional currency in all foreign locations is the local currency. Assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars as of the balance sheet date. Revenues, expenses, gains, and
losses are translated at the average exchange rates in effect during each period. Gains and losses
resulting from translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity.
Net gains or losses resulting from foreign currency exchange transactions are included in the
consolidated statements of operations. The Company incurred a gain (loss) included in comprehensive
income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated financial statements of approximately $1,638,000,
$(2,254,000), and $(70,000) from translation of its foreign subsidiary’s assets and liabilities into U.S.
dollars in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. There were no material gains and losses from foreign
currency exchange transactions for the same periods.

Comprehensive Loss

As of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, accumulated other comprehensive loss includes
unrealized gains and losses on investments and foreign currency translation adjustments. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, accumulated net unrealized gain on available for sale investments was
approximately $107,000 and $180,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, accumulated
foreign currency translation adjustment was a loss of approximately $822,000 and $2.5 million,
respectively.

3.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets:

In December 2003, the Company recorded a charge of $69.0 million for the impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets associated with its prior acquisitions. The impairment resulted from the
Company’s annual review of goodwill and intangible assets, which considered current business
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performance, slowed growth and other market conditions. The charge for the impairment of goodwill
and intangible assets was as follows (in thousands):

Intangible
| Goodwill Assets Total
Managed SEIVICES . . . v oo v it i e $62,010  $6,086  $68,096
SEIVICES .« v vt it e 909 — 909
Total .. ... S R $62,919  $6,086  $69,005

Goodwill ImpaiMent

SFAS No. 142 requires the Company to perform annual testing to compare each reporting units’
fair value to its|carrying value, including goodwill. In connection with the adoption of SFAS 142, in the
first quarter of 2002, the Company assessed the fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units and
their intangible|assets. The Company determined that each reporting units’ carrying values, including
goodwill, did not exceed its fair value.

The Company engaged an independent valuation firm to assess the fair value of each of the
Company’s reporting units and their mtangxble assets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002. The Company
determined that each reporting units’ carrying value, including goodwill, d1d not exceed its fair value as
of December 31, 2002. However, as of December 31, 2003, the Company determined that two of its
reporting units’ \carrymg values, including goodwill, exceeded their respective fair values. As a result, at
December 31, 2[)03 the Company assessed the fair value of the reporting units’ assets, including
identified intangible assets, and liabilities and derived an implied fair value for each reporting units’
goodwill. Since the carrying amount of goodwill was greater than its implied fair value for the two
identified reporting units, a charge of $62.9 million for the impairment of goodwill was recognized in
December 2003,

The fair values of the reporting units were determined using an average of the income approach
and market approach values. The Company determined the estimated fair value of identified intangible
assets and non-goodwill intangible assets and liabilities using the estimated discounted cash flows. The
Company used a discount rate based on the specific risks and circumstances associated with the
identified intangible asset or other non-goodwill assets or liability being evaluated. The assumptions
supporting the estimated cash flows for identified intangible assets and other non-goodwill assets and
liabilities, mcludmg the discount rate, reflects management’s estimates. The discount rate was based
upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the risks associated with the
operations being tested.

Goodwill as;‘ of December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

: 2003 2002
Goodwill . ... ... e $5,044 § 94,214
Less — Accumulated amortization. ... ................... —  (28,557)
GOOAWIIL .+ oottt $5,044  $ 65,657
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The results for prior years have not been restated to reflect the nonamortization approach adopted
for goodwill. A reconciliation of previously reported net loss and net loss per share in 2001 to the
amounts adjusted for the exclusion of goodwill amortization, including a comparison of net loss and net
loss per share in 2003 and 2002, is as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Reported net loss attributable to common stockholders ........... $(71,178) $(11,358) $(45,753)
Goodwill amortization, netof tax .. ...... ... . . . .. .. — —_ 20,302
Adjusted Nt 10SS . . ottt $(71,178) $(11,358) $(25,451)
Basic and diluted net loss per share as reported . .. .............. $ 173) $ 028 $§ (1.22)
Goodwill amortization .. ........ ... ... . . . I — — 0.54
Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share . . . ................ $ (173) $ (0.28) $ (0.68)
Weighted average common shares . .. ............ . coiiun... 41,128 40,019 37,650

Intangible Asset Impairment

As part of the Company’s review of the financial results for 2003, the Company performed an
assessment of the carrying value of the Company’s long-lived assets, including intangible assets. The
assessment was performed pursuant to SFAS No. 144. As a result of this assessment, the Company
recorded a charge of $6.1 million in December 2003, related to the impairment of technology and
know-how acquired in the Company’s recent acquisitions. This charge was based on the amount by
which the carrying amount of the developed technology exceeded its fair value. Fair value was
determined based on discounted future cash flows derived from the developed technology, which had
separately identifiable cash flows. The assumptions supporting the estimated future cash flows,
including the discount rate reflect management’s estimates. The discount rate was based upon the
Company’s weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the risks associated with its operations.

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
Acquired technology and know-how .. .................... $1,484 $11,332
CUSIOMET CONIACES . . . o it ittt et et et e et e e e 379 1,665
1,863 12,997
Less — Accumulated amortization .. ..................... — (3,899
Intangible assets, Nt .. ... ..ot e $1,863 $ 9,098

Amortization of intangible assets in 2003, 2002, and 2001 was approximately $2.8 million,
$2.6 million, and $2.0 million, respectively. In the aggregate, amortization for future periods is expected
to be approximately $964,000, $384,000, $384,000, $90,000, and $41,000 for the years ending
December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively.
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4. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002

Comfguter EQUIPIIENE . . v v v vttt e $ 13432 § 10,749
SOTEWATE . o ittt e 8,811 7,474
Furniture and equipment . ....... ...t 5,233 4,740
Leasehold improvements ... ..............couuiunan... 1,551 1,473

| 20,027 24,436
Less -—— Accumulated depreciation ..................... (18,221)  (12,502)
Property and eqUIPMeNt, NEt . ... ..............oueo... $ 10,806 $ 11,934

Depreciation expense in 2003, 2002, and 2001 was approximately $5.2 million, $4.6 million, and
$3.2 million, respectively.

5. Long-Term Debt:
Lines of Credit|

In July 2002, the Company refinanced $3.9 million of outstanding debt under its former credit
facility with a new facility from Comerica Bank. The term loan matures in June 2004 and bears interest
at the bank’s pr}\ime rate plus 50 basis points (4.5% as of December 31, 2003). The balance under the
term loan was approximately $1.0 million and $3.0 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The Company also obtained a secured revolving line of credit (Line of Credit) and an
equipment line of credit (Equipment Line of Credit) with Comerica Bank.

The Company may borrow up to $10.0 million under the Line of Credit, with a $2.5 million
sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit. Advances under the Line of Credit are limited to the
lesser of $10 million or 80% of eligible accounts receivable, as defined in the loan agreement. The Line
of Credit bears interest at the bank’s prime rate (4.0% as of December 31, 2003). The Line of Credit
matures in July 2004. There were no outstanding balance under the Line of Credit as of December 31,
2003 and 2002.

In the first and third quarters of 2003, the Company borrowed approximately $614,000 and
$488,000, respectively, against the equipment line of credit. The availability under the Equipment Line
of Credit expired in July 2003. Commencing on July 31, 2003, interest and principal began to be
payable in monthly installments on all borrowings made under the equipment line of credit, which
matures in full on July 30, 2005. The outstanding balance under the Equipment Line of Credit was
approximately $796,000 as of December 31, 2003, of which $490,000 was current. The Equipment Line
of Credit has two interest-only payment periods and bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 50
basis points (4.5% as of December 31, 2003). The balance under the Equipment Line of Credit was
zero at December 31, 2002.

The terms of the Line of Credit and Equipment Line of Credit require the Company to comply
with several financial covenants, including restrictions and limitations on future indebtedness, sale of
assets and material changes in the Company’s business. The financial covenants include a minimum
modified quick ratio, as defined in the loan -agreement, of 2.0 to 1.0 and a maximum ratio of total
liabilities to tangible net worth of 1.5 to 1.0. Under the most restrictive of the financial covenants, the
Company’s pro forma income cannot be less than zero for the three months ended December 31, 2003
or quarterly thereafter. Pro forma income (loss) is defined in the loan agreement as net income, plus
interest expense, taxes, non-cash charges (including depreciation, amortization, stock-based
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compensation, research and development related charges and one-time restructuring charges), and cash
restructuring charges (not to exceed $5.0 million in the aggregate), less interest income and any
one-time or non-recurring revenue. Through December 31, 2003, the Company was in compliance with
the covenants of the Company’s credit facility.

Capital Lease Obligations and Other

The Company leases office equipment under various non-cancelable capital leases. Amounts
borrowed under the equipment leasing arrangement are due over 36- to 48-month repayment periods.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, capital lease obligations outstanding were approximately
$764,000 and $92,000, respectively. Approximately $372,000 of the capital lease obligation balance was
current as of December 31, 2003. Property and equipment includes approximately $925,000 and
$258,000 of equipment under capital lease arrangements at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Related accumulated depreciation was approximately $134,000 and $204,000 at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had a note payable outstanding of approximately $120,000
due to a third party issued in connection with a 2002 acquisition. The Company repaid the loan in
February of 2003. Interest accrued monthly at an annual rate of approximately 6.5%.

Future minimum payments under the Company’s term loan, note payable and capital lease
arrangements at December 31, 2003, are as follows (in thousands):

2004 . e $ 1,975
200 667
2006 . . 76

Total minimum payments .. ... .. 2,718
Less — amounts representing interest. . ... ... ... oo (153)
Present value of net minimum payments . . ...... .. ... .. ... ... 2,565
Less — current obligations. . . .. ... .ttt (1,867)
Long-term debt . . .. ... .. e $ 698

6. Warrants

In March 2001 and August 2001, two existing investors exercised warrants to purchase
approximately 68,000 and 12,000 shares of common stock, respectively, for an aggregate purchase price
of approximately $294,000. One investor exercised their warrants on a cashless basis and accordingly,
the number of shares purchased was reduced, as defined in the respective stock purchase agreements.
As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were no outstanding warrants to purchase the Company’s
common stock.

7. Stockholders’ Equity:

Common Stock

Dividends may be declared and paid on common stock shares at the discretion of the Company’s
Board of Directors. No common stock dividends have been declared or paid as of December 31, 2003
and 2002. The Company is restricted by its Line of Credit agreement to pay dividends on its common
stock.
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Stock Optioﬂ Plans
1996 Stock Option Plan

On July 26, 1996, the Company adopted a Stock Option Plan (the “1996 Plan”) in order to
provide an incentive to eligible participants. The 1996 Plan provides for grants of incentive stock
options, nonqualified stock options, and stock awards to employees, directors, consultants, and advisors.
The total number of shares reserved and available for grant under the 1996 Plan was approximately
8,250,000.

2000 Stock Incentive Plan

On Aprill4, 2000, the Company adopted a 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”) to replace
the 1996 Plan| effective upon the completion of the Company’s initial public offering. As of
December 31,2003, approximately 19,375,000 shares of common stock were available for issuance
under the 2000 Plan, which includes the shares reserved for issuance under the 1996 Plan. The 2000
Pian provides ‘gfor grants of options to purchase common stock and issuance of shares of common stock
to employees, §directors, consultants, and advisors,

For incentive stock options, the exercise price may not be less than the determined fair market
value at the date of grant. For nonqualified stock options, the exercise price shall be at least equal to
85% of the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 1996
Plan and 2000 Plan (together, the “Plans”) vest over a three to six-year period, but generally over four
vears, and expire ten years after the grant date. Approximately 7,240,000 and 11,776,000 options were
available for future grant under the 2000 Plan as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
respectively. |

The follo»\%ing table summarizes activity for the stock options granted under the Plans for the three
years ended December 31, 2003 (in thousands, except per share data).

ﬁ Number of Range of Weighted-Average

; Options Exercise Price Exercise Price
Options outstanding at December 31,2000............ 6,731  $1.00 - $20.38 $ 452
Granted . . ... e e 2,463 7.38 - 18.50 12.02
Exercised ... ... ... ... . (1,142) 1.00- 12.06 2.70
Forfeited ...... ... .. . . .. . . (519) 1.00- 18.50 6.83
Options outstanding at December 31,2001 . ........... 7,533  $1.00 - $20.38 $ 6.95
Granted . . . . . P 3032 1.94- 1660 9.49
Exercised ... ...t (965) 1.00- 12006 2.63
Forfeited ......... ... .. . . . . .. i (4,824) 1.00 - 20.38 11.23
Options outstanding at December 31,2002............ 4,776 $1.00 - $18.00 $ 5.08
Granted ... ... 5862 3.60- 647 4.10
Exercised ............ .. ..o (876) 0.84- 565 3.14
Forfeited ......... ... ... .. .. ... . ... ... . (1,326) 0.84 - 18.00 5.58
Options outstanding at December 31,2003 ... ......... 8,436  $0.84 - $16.38 $ 4.44

The weight§d-average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2003,

2002 and 2001 was $2.88, $6.85, and $6.80, respectively.

As of December 31, 2003, options to purchase approximately 4,812,000 shares of common stock
were exercisable with a weighted-average per share exercise price of $4.47. The weighted-average
remaining contractual life and weighted-average exercise price per share of options outstanding and
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options exercisable at December 31, 2003, for selected exercise price ranges are as follows (in
thousands, except per share data):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Remaining
Range of Number of Contractual Life Weighted-Average Number of Weighted-Average

Exercise Prices Options (in Years) Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
$ 1.00 - $ 2.00 252 4.2 $ 1.01 249 $ 1.00
201 - 4.00 2,648 6.6 3.48 1,335 3.58
401 - 6.00 4,753 8.3 4.30 2,719 424
6.01 - B.00 407 6.7 6.76 254 6.93
8.01 - 10.00 101 6.1 9.66 78 9.67
10.01 - 12.00 75 7.2 11.58 50 11.60
12.01 - 14.00 51 7.5 13.05 28 12.92
14.01 - 16.00 138 6.5 15.19 93 15.19
16.01 - 18.00 11 7.5 16.22 6 16.25

$ 1.00 - $18.00 8,436 7.5 $ 4.44 4,812 $ 447

Stock Option Cancellation

In October 2002, the Company offered each employee an opportunity to cancel certain of their
stock options (the “Options Exchange”) in exchange for the right to receive a future stock option grant
for the same number of shares six months and one day from the date of cancellation with a strike price
equal to the market price on the new grant date. Options to purchase approximately 3.8 million shares
were cancelled pursuant to the Options Exchange. In April 2003, the Company issued replacement
options to employees to purchase approximately 3.6 million shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $4.06 per share in exchange for the options previously canceled. The vesting schedule of the
canceled options remained in effect for the replacement options. The Company deferred the issuance
of annual option grants to employees during this six-month period and accordingly, in April 2003, the
Company issued additional options to purchase 930,000 shares of common stock to these employees at
an exercise price of $4.06 per share.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On April 4, 2000, the Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP Plan”) to
be effective upon the completion of its initial public offering. As of December 31, 2003, approximately
1,850,000 shares of common stock were available for issuance under the ESPP Plan. Employees who
work more than 20 hours a week for more than five calendar months per year are eligible to
participate in the ESPP Plan. A participant may contribute up to 10% of his or her salary. Shares of
common stock will be purchased semi-annually at a price per share equal to the lower of 85% of the
fair market value on the participants date of entry into the offering period or 85% of the fair market
value on the semi-annual purchase date. In 2003 and 2002, eligible employees purchased approximately
328,000 and 360,000 shares, respectively for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $1.2 million
and $1.5 million, respectively.

8. Restructuring:

The Company recorded approximately $3.6 million of restructuring costs in 2002. The Company
reduced the restructuring reserve in 2002 by approximately $274,000 based on differences between
actual costs incurred compared to the Company’s original estimates. Costs associated with the
termination of employees totaled approximately $1.1 million. Costs associated with the closing of
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redundant facilities, the cancellation of certain contracts, and other non-personnel related actions
totaled approximately $2.2 million. In 2002, Company wrote off property and equipment of
approximately $220,000. During 2003, the Company negotiated a favorable buy-out on one of its
facilities resulting in a benefit of $228,000 recorded on the restructuring line item. The Company paid
approximately $1.0 million and $1.8 million of restructuring costs, in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company expects to pay out the remainder of the restructuring reserve in 2004. The balance of the
restructuring reserve was $112,000 and $1.3 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

9. Income Taxes:

In 2003, the tax provision was comprised of federal, state, and foreign taxes. The federal tax
provision resulted from the limitation applied to net operating losses for alternative minimum tax
purposes. No provision for federal income taxes has been recorded for 2002 or 2001, due to
accumulated net operating losses. The Company has recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount
of its net deferred tax assets as a result of the uncertainty surrounding the timing of the realization of
these future tax benefits.

The income tax provision is composed of the following (in thousands):

For the year ending
December 31,

Income tax provision 2003 2002 2001
Current—
Federal . .. . e e $141 $ — $ —
State ..... A 161 173 306
Foreign . . . e 281 — —
Total ....... e $583 $173  $306

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002

Depreciation and amortization .. ...................... $ (1,082) § (522)
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ..................... 341 352
Deferred revenue. . .. .. ... vttt 3,247 1,907
GoodWill . . .. 23,474 5,543
Acquired intangibles ......... ... o oo (182)  (1,273)
Accrued eXPeNnSeS . . ... e e 1,289 169
Alternative minimum tax credit .. .........c..hieie.... 141 —
Net opérating loss carryforwards . . . .......... ... ... ... 34,350 31,194
Prepaid expenses and other .................. . ....... (360) —
Research and development credit . ..................... 1,227 2,132

g 62,445 39,502
Valuation allowance . . ........... o (62,445)  (39,502)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) ....................... $ — $ —

Management believes that, based on a number of factors, the available objective evidence creates
sufficient uncertainty regarding the realizability of the deferred tax assets such that a full valuation
allowance on the net deferred tax asset is required. Such factors include the lack of a significant history
of profits, increases in expense levels to support the Company’s growth, the lack of carryback capacity
to realize deferred tax assets, and the uncertainty regarding market acceptance of new versions of the
Company’s software.




The Company intends to reinvest earnings from its foreign subsidiaries outside of the United
States. Accordingly, no deferred tax liabilities have been recorded.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately $69.3 million of federal net operating
losses, which may be carried forward to offset future taxable income, subject to ownership change
limitations. As defined under the Internal Revenue Code, substantial changes in the Company’s
ownership have occurred. As a result, future utilization of these net operating carryforwards that the
Company has accumulated prior to the change in ownership are subject to annual limitations. As of
December 31, 2003, $10.3 million of the net operating loss carryforwards were attributable to tax
deductions related to the exercise of stock options and the remainder are attributable to operating
activities. Federal net operating loss carryforwards may be used to offset up to 90% of the Company’s
alternative minimum taxable income. Alternative minimum taxes are allowed as a credit carryover
against regular tax in the future in the event the regular tax exceeds alternative minimum tax expense.
As of December 31, 2003, the Company had alternative minimum tax and research and development
tax credit carryforwards of approximately $141,000 and $1.2 million respectively. As of December 31,
2003, the Company also had approximately $24.6 million of foreign net operating losses, which may be
carried forward to offset future foreign taxable income. The net operating loss and research and
development tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2011.

The difference between the reported amount of income tax expense and the amount of income tax
expense that would result from applying the U.S. Federal tax rate of 35% is summarized as follows (in
thousands):

December, 31,

2003 2002
US Federal statutory rate . .. ... ..o it 35.0% 35.0%
State taxes, net of federal benefit . ......... ... .. .......... 3.3 2.6
Nondeductible expenses and other ...................... ... 98y (9.5
Taxcredits. ... .o (0.2) 3.6
Change in valuation allowance . ............... ... ........ (26.1) (33.3)
Provision for inCome taxes ... ........ .., (0.8)% (1.6)%

10. Commitments and Contingencies:
Operating Leases

The Company leases various equipment and office space under operating lease agreements
expiring at various dates through 2013. In addition to base rent, the Company is responsible for certain
taxes, utilities, and maintenance costs.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2003
are as follows (in thousands):

2004 . e $ 3,219
2005 . e 3,117
2006 . . e e 2,294
2007 . e 1,686
2008 . . e 1,474
Thereafter . ... . 3,452

$15,242
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Total rental expense in 2003, 2002 and 2001, was approximately $3.3 million, $3.3 million, and
$2.9 million, respectively.

License Agreements

The Company has a license agreement with a third party in which the Company has sublicensed
this third party’s software in exchange for a royalty of $350,000 in 2000 and 6% of its software revenue
containing this software, as defined by the license agreement, from June 30, 2001 through June 20,
2006. ‘

The Company has a license agreement with another third party in which the Company has
sublicensed this third party’s software for an initial fee of $95,000 in 2002 and maintenance and
technical support fees of approximately $25,000 per year. This license agreement expires on
December 31, 2005.

Litigation

The Comp:any is periodically a party to disputes arising from normal business activities. In the
opinion of management, resolution of these matters will not have a materially adverse effect upon the
financial condition or future operating results of the Company.

On Marchi14, 2001, Expeditors International of Washington, Inc. and Expeditors Tradewin, L.L.C.
(collectively “Expeditors”) filed suit against the Company in the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Michigan, Southern Division primarily alleging that the Company misappropriated
certain of Expeditors’ trade secrets in connection with its acquisition of Ford’s customs import
operations, by utilizing systems and business processes that Expeditors assisted in developing for Ford
and through itsjemployee hiring practices. Discovery in this matter has ended, and the trial is presently
scheduled to commence in the second half of 2004. .

In connection with its acquisition of Ford’s customs import operations, Ford agreed to indemnify
the Company for intellectual property infringement claims, and Ford is currently indemnifying the
Company in connection with this litigation. Although Ford is obligated to indemnify the Company for
claims of intellectual property infringement arising from the property Vastera acquired from it, Ford is
not obligated tolindemnify the Company for damages and legal fees arising from claims pertaining
solely to Vasterd’s acts, upon which certain of the claims asserted in this matter have been based.
Although management believes the Company has meritorious defenses to Expeditors’ claims, there can
be no assurances$ that it will prevail in this matter.

In some of the Company’s software license arrangements, the Company has agreed to indemnify
customers for any damages they sustain from a claim for intellectual property infringement. Although
management does not believe that the Company’s products infringe the intellectual property rights of
any third party, management cannot estimate the Company’s maximum liability exposure, due to the
inherent uncertainty associated with any such claims and the varying nature of the indemnification
levels to which the Company has agreed.

11. Employee Bénefit Plan:

The Compaf‘;y sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing plan to provide retirement and incidental benefits
for its employees! (the “401(k) Plan”). As allowed under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code,
the 401(k) Plan provides tax-deferred salary deductions for eligible employees. The Company may
make discretionary contributions to the 401(k) Plan. The Company contributed cash contributions of
approximately $395,000, $975,000, and $1.3 million to the 401(k) Plan in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

60



12. Segment Information:

The Company has three reportable operating segments: managed services, software, and services.
The managed services segment generates revenues from Managed Services transaction and service
arrangements. The software segment generates revenues from term license, perpetual license, and
transaction license agreements of its Global Trade Management solutions. The services segment
generates revenues by charging its customers for implementation, management consulting and training
services.

Prior to 2002, the Company had two reportable segments. During the first quarter of 2002, the
Company revised its management reporting process to enable managed services revenues and costs of
managed services to be tracked and managed separately. Accordingly, the Company began reporting
revenues and costs of revenues from its Managed Services operations separately from its software and
services operations. 2001 has been reclassified to conform to the current period’s segment presentation.

The Company evaluates its segments’ performance based on revenues and gross profit. The
Company’s unallocated costs include corporate and other costs not allocated to the segments for
management’s reporting purposes.

The following table summarizes the Company’s three segments (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Revenues:
Managed SETVICES ... ... ..t $ 55246 $45216 $ 32,765
Software . ... ... . ... 11,382 12,523 13,727
Services . .. i 18,603 18,639 18,432
Total revenues. . . ..... ... ... ........ 85,231 76,378 64,924
Gross profit:
Managed services ... ..... ... .., 25,113 20,997 15,746
Software . ... .. 8,711 9,990 11,321
Services ... ... e 4,796 4,883 4,414
Gross profit .. ......... ... ... ... ....... 38,620 35,870 31,481
Net loss:
Unallocated expense . . .. ................. (110,336)  (48,129) (80,145)
Interest income . ............. ... ... ... 698 1,362 3,373
Interest €Xpense . ... ... (160) (461) (462)
Netloss ..o e e $ (71,178) $(11,358) $(45,753)

Under SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the
Company is required to provide enterprise-wide disclosures about long-lived assets by geographic area,
and revenues from significant customers.

Geographic Information

The Company sells its products and services through its offices in the United States, Brazil,
Canada, Mexico, Germany, Japan, and the United Kingdom. Information regarding revenues and
long-lived assets attributable to the United States and to all foreign countries is stated below. The
geographic classification of product and services revenues was based upon the location of the customer.

61




Vastera’s product and services revenues were generated in the following geographic regions (in
thousands):

" Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
United States .. ... .. i $62,801 $61,782 $52,644
Other North America ......... ... viiinunn.. 9,593 8,362 6,580
BUrope . . ..o 8,072 2,044 506
Other international locations .. ................. 4,765 4,190 5,194
Total FevVenues . . .. oo v it e $85,231 $76,378 $64,924

The Coquany’s tangible long-lived assets were located as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

‘ 2003 2002
United STAteS . . . .o oot $ 9,590 $10,729
Other'North America . . . ... ...ttt 826 839
BUIOPE .« . 202 278
Other'international operations .. ...........ovvuveunn... 188 88
Total Ipng-lived ASSEES o v vt e $10,806 $11,934

Significant Customers

In 2003, 2002, and 2001, the Company derived approximately 64%, 59%, and 67%, respectively, of
the Company’s total revenues from the Company’s top five customers. In 2003, 2002, and 2001, Ford
accounted for 30%, 30%, and 35% of total revenues, respectively. In 2003 and 2002, Lucent
Technologies accounted for 14% and 11% of total revenues, respectively.

13. Transactions with Ford Motor Company:

On August 29, 2000, the Company acquired Ford’s global customs import operations and merged
Ford’s global customs import operations into its Managed Services operations. Ford received 8,000,000
shares of the Company’s common stock valued at approximately $79.2 million in consideration at the
time of the transaction. As of December 31, 2003, Ford owned 8,000,000 shares or approximately 19%
of the Company.“\

In August 2000, the Company also entered into a Managed Services agreement under which
Vastera manages Ford’s global trade import operations. In January 2001 and March 2001, the Company
entered into a Managed Services agreements with Ford Mexico and Ford Canada, respectively. In
November 2002,ithe Company entered into a Managed Services agreement with Ford Europe to
manage operations in the United Kingdom, Spain, Belgium, and Germany. The agreements with Ford
have initially had minimum terms of four years and each may continue for a total of ten years.

In December of 2001, the Company recognized approximately $2.4 million in revenue under the
Company’s Ford lglobal Managed Services agreement related to cumulative transactions in excess of the
annual minimum billable for the year. In December 2001, the Company permitted Ford U.S. to carry
forward a portion of the transactions processed for Ford U.S. in 2001 in excess of the contractual
minimum to be applied to transactions processed in the first quarter of 2002 that were less than the
contractual minimum.

In February 2002, the Company amended its agreement with Ford U.S. to provide for quarterly
minimum transac‘gion levels in lieu of annual minimum transaction levels. By amending the agreement
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in this manner, the Company was able to bill Ford on a quarterly basis for the transactions processed
in excess of the minimum levels. In connection with the amendment, the Company agreed to reduce
Ford’s U.S. aggregate annual minimum revenue guarantee from $11.6 million to $11.0 million. For the
three months and six months ended June 30, 2002, the Company derived approximately $1.0 million
and $2.5 million, respectively, in revenues related to transactions in excess of the quarterly minimum.

In July 2002, the Company further amended its agreement with Ford U.S. to provide for billing
Ford at a fixed annual rate of $11.8 million for the remaining life of the agreement, beginning
January 1, 2003. By amending the agreement in this manner, the Company no longer bills Ford on a
per transaction processed basis, but instead bills Ford at a fixed annual rate. In connection with this
amendment, the Company and Ford agreed that it would bill Ford $4.9 million ratably over the
remainder of 2002.

In 2003, 2002, and 2001 Ford Motor Company accounted for 30%, 30%, and 35% of total
revenues, respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, Ford owed the Company approximately
$4.5 million and $3.0 million, or 26% and 16%, of the Company’s total accounts receivable,
respectively.

The Company reimburses Ford for expenses incurred by Ford for the use of its facilities, the costs
of leased employees, and the maintenance and expenses related to .the acquired technology. In 2003,
2002 and 2001, the Company paid Ford approximately $6.4 million, $5.7 million, and $5.7 million,
respectively. These payments increased beginning in December 2002 when the Company assumed
responsibility for managing Ford’s import operations in Europe. In 2003, these payments began to
decrease as the Company deploying its own technology in North America.

14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid for interest was $141,000, $477,000, and 407,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Noncash activities were as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Assets acquired under capitalized lease obligations and equipment line

of credit . . ..o e e e $960 $1,243 $2,933
Refinancing of equipment line of credit to term loan .. ................ — 3,853 —
Issuance of common stock and stock options in acquisitions . ............ 312 7,004 13,551
Deferred compensation in connection with stock options issued to

employees in acquisition . . ... .. ... — — 465
Assumed labilities, deferred revenue, transaction costs and other,

net of tangible assets acquired in acquisition. . ... ... ... ... ... ... (214) 2,000 5,166
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15. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth unaudited quarterly results for the eight fiscal quarters ended
December 31, 2003.

Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002 2002

(in thousands, unaudited)

Consolidated Stétement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Managed services revenues . . . .. ... ... .. $ 13,903 $14,084 $13,644 $13,615 $12,281 $10,961 $11,044 $10,930
Software reveriues . ... .. ............ 2,830 2,936 2,885 2,731 2,928 2,967 3,109 3519
Services revenues . . .. ... ... L. 4,335 4,675 4,995 4,598 4,520 5,328 4,185 4,606

Total revenues . .. ... ... 21,068 21,695 21,524 20,944 19,729 19,256 18,338 19,055

Cost of revenues:
Cost of managéd SEervices revenues . . . ... .. 7,645 7,553 7,499 7,436 6,895 6,536 5,411 5,377
Cost of softwate revenues. . . . .......... 561 716 712 682 662 668 667 536
Cost of services revenues . . ... ......... 3,380 3421 3,637 3,369 3,330 3,758 3,291 3,377

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing . .. .............. 2,327 2,290 2,302 2,244 2,704 2,627 3,256 3,387
Research and d\evc]opment ............. 2,905 2,954 2,999 3,037 2,646 3,102 3,493 3,948
General and administrative . . ... ... ..... 2,887 2,663 2,733 2,740 2,123 2,623 2,308 2,554
Depreciation ., .. .. ...... .. ... 1,325 1,281 1,263 1,301 1,290 1,289 1,094 970
Intangible amortization expense . . . .. ... .. 736 719 707 680 698 717 740 453
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets . 69,005 — — — — — — —
Restructuring . ............c.c..... (228) — — — (274) 1,634 1,976 —
Stock-based compensation . ... ......... 108 189 275 370 472 585 710 852

Total operating expenses . . ... ........ 79,065 10,096 10,279 10,372 9,659 12,577 13,577 12,164

Loss from operations .. .............. (69,583) (91) (603) (915) (817) (4,283) (4,608) (2,399)
Other income (expense) . . .. ........... 149 112 148 188 197 192 228 305
Loss before income taxes . . . ........... (69,434) 21 (455) (727) (620) (4,091) (4,380) (2,094)
[NCOmE taxes « (v v v v v v e v e (125) (150) (157) (151) 112 (103) (91) 91)

Net loss applicable to common stockholders . . $(69,559) § (129) $ (612) § (878) $ (508) $(4,194) $(4,471) $(2,185)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share . § (1.67) $ (0.00) $ (0.01) $ (0.02) $ (0.01) $ (0.10) § (0.11) $ (0.06)
Weighted-averag‘t‘: common shares outstanding . 41,668 41,374 40,849 40,600 40,408 40,246 40,124 39,282
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On May 9, 2002, our Audit Committee terminated the engagement of Arthur Andersen LLP as
our independent auditors. The report of Arthur Andersen LLP on our financial statements for 2001
contained no adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor was the report qualified or modified as to
uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles. In connection with the audit performed by Arthur
Andersen LLP for 2001 and during the period from January 1, 2002 through May 9, 2002, there were
no disagreements with Arthur Andersen LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices,
financial statement disclosure or auditing scope of procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to
the satisfaction of Arthur Andersen LLP, would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter
of the disagreement(s) in its report. We provided a copy of the above disclosures to Arthur Andersen
LLP and requested that Arthur Andersen LLP furnish us with a letter addressed to the Securities and
Exchange Commission stating whether it agreed with the above statements. A copy of such letter, dated
May 13, 2002 was filed as appendix 16.1 to a Form 8-K filed on May 14, 2002. Effective May 10, 2002,
we retained KPMG LLP as our independent public accountants. During 2001 and during the period
from January 1, 2002 through May 9, 2002, neither we nor anyone acting on our behalf consulted with
KPMG LLP regarding the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either
completed or proposed, or the type of the audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial
statements, nor did we (or anyone acting on our behalf) consult with KPMG LLP regarding any other
matter that was the subject of a disagreement (as defined in paragraph 304(a)(1)(iv) and the related
instructions to Item 304 of Regulation S-K) or a reportable event (as described in
paragraph 304(a)(1)(v) of Item 304 of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Within the 90-day period prior to the filing of this report, an evaluation was carried out under
the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that those disclosure controls and procedures were adequate to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms.

(b) There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of our evaluation, including no
corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information regarding directors and executive officers required by Item 10 is incorporated by
reference herein from the information set forth in “Proposal No. 1: Election of Directors” and the
“Management” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” sections of our
definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with our annual stockholders’ meeting to be held
on May 5, 2004.
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ITEM 11, EXEECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information regarding executive compensation required by Item 11 is incorporated by
reference herein from the information set forth in the “Executive Compensation and Related
Information” section of our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with our annual
stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 5, 2004.

ITEM 12. SEdIURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference herein from the information set forth in the “Principal
Stockholders” section of our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with our annual
stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 5, 2004.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The inforf;nation regarding certain relationships and related transactions required by Item 13 is
incorporated by reference herein from the information set forth in the “Certain Transactions” section
of our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with our annual stockholders’ meeting to be
held on May 5, 2004.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The inforn“;ation regarding audit fees and services required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference
herein from the information set forth in the “Audit and Related Fees™ section of our definitive proxy
statement to be filed in connection with our annual stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 5, 2004.

: PART IV
ITEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 10-K

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The information required by this Item is included in Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule of Vastera for each of the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, and
related notes thereto, of Vastera.

Schedule T — Report of Independent Public Accountants .. ............... 56
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . ..................... 57

Schedules other than the above have been omitted as they are not required, not applicable, or the
information has iotherwise been shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying index to exhibits immediately following the signature
pages hereto filed as part of this Form 10-K are incorporated by reference herein.

(b) Reports}on Form 8-K

On January ‘329, 2004, we filed a Form 8-K furnishing a press release that announced our financial

results for the year ended December 31, 2003 and presenting certain other information.
|
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VASTERA, INC.
SCHEDULE I—REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To Vastera, Inc.:

We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States,
the 2001 consolidated financial statements of Vastera, Inc. included in this Form 10-K and have issued
our report thereon dated January 23, 2002. Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion
on the 2001 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The schedule listed in Item No. 14 of
this Form 10-K is the responsibility of the company’s management and is presented for purposes of
complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and is not part of the 2001
consolidated financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the 2001 consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state in all material
respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in relation to the 2001 consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Vienna, Virginia
January 23, 2002

This is a copy of the report previously issued by Arthur Andersen LLP.
As discussed in Exhibit 23.2, this report has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP.
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VASTERA, INC.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

(in thousands)

Balance at Additions Charged Write-offs of Balance at
Description ‘ Beginning of Year to Expense Doubtful Accounts End of Year
Allowance for [Doubtful Accounts:
December 31,2003 ............. $948 $ 372 $ (326) $994
December 31,2002 ............. 632 604 (288) 948
December 31,2001 . ............ 665 1,079 (1,112) 632
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized in Dulles, Virginia on March 9, 2004,

VASTERA, INC.

By: /s/ MARIA HENRY

Maria Henry,
Chief Financial Officer
{Principal Financial Officer)

By: /s/ KEVIN M. BOYCE

Kevin M. Boyce,
Vice President, Finance & Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints each of Maria Henry and Kevin Boyce, individually, his true and lawful
attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and revocation, for him and in his name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power
and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done as
fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming ail
that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual
Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Titlg RaE
/s/ TIMOTHY A. DAVENPORT President, Chief Executive Officer
X and Director (Principal Executive March 9, 2004
Timothy A. Davenport Officer)
/s/ MARIA HENRY ief Fi i i inci
: Chl&?f Fm_anmal ‘Offlcer (Principal March 9, 2004
Maria Henry Financial Officer)
/s/ KEVIN M. BOYCE Vice President, Finance & Corporate
- Controller (Principal Accounting March 9, 2004
Kevin M. Boyce Officer)
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Signature

/s/ RICHARD A. LEFEBVRE

Richard A. Lefebvre

/s/ RICHARD H. KIMBALL

Richard H. Kimball

/s/ WALTER ARZONETTI

Walter Arzonetti

/s/ THOMAS E. HOGAN

Thomas E. Hogan

/s/ ROBERT J. MCGOVERN

Robbrt J. McGovern

Title

Director, Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 9, 2004

March 9, 2004

March 9, 2004

March 9, 2004

March 9, 2004



EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description
31 Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. (2)
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws. (2)
41 Specimen common stock certificate. (2)
4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investor’s Rights Agreement, as amended, dated August 29,
2000. (3)
10.1 Value-Added Reseller License and Services Agreement with Forte Software, Inc., as amended,
dated July 19, 1996. (2)
10.2 Lease Agreement with RHI Holdings, Inc., dated August 20, 1996, as amended, for property
located at 45025 Aviation Drive, Dulles, Virginia. (2)
10.3 Lease Agreement with Pratt Land, LLC, dated December 13, 1993, for property located at
1375 Ken Pratt Blvd., Longmont, Colorado. (2)
10.4 Lease with Axon Solutions Limited for property located at 188 High Street, Egham,
Surrey. (2)
10.5 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Vastera, Inc. and members of its board of
directors. (2)
10.6 1996 Stock Option Plan, as amended. (2)
10.7 Form of Stock Option Agreement for 1996 Plan. (2)
10.8 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (2)
10.9 2000 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. (2)
10.10  Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2000 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. (2)
10.11  IBM/OEM Software Agreement with IBM dated March 13, 2000. (2)
- 10.12  Loan and Security Agreement with Comerica Bank-California date July 30, 2002 (5)
10.15  Global Trade Services Agreement with Ford Motor Company dated July 14, 2000. (2)(4)
10.16  Stock Transfer Agreement with Ford Motor Company dated July 14, 2000. (2)(4)
10.17  License Agreement with Ford Motor Company dated July 14, 2000. (2)
10.18  Salaried Employee Secondment Agreement with Ford Motor Company dated July 14,
2000. (2)(4)
10.19 Employee Transfer Agreement with Ford Motor Company dated July 14, 2000. (2)(4)
10.20  Guaranties with Ford Motor Company dated July 14, 2000. (2)
10.21  Employment Agreement of Timothy A. Davenport. (1)
10.22  Severance Agreement of Maria Henry. (1)
10.23  Severance Agreement of Brian Henderson. (1)
10.24  Severance Agreement of Kevin Boyce. (1)
10.25  Severance Agreement of Robert Skinner. (1)

71




Exhibit

Number ‘ Description

21.1  List of Subsidiaries. (1)

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP. (1)

232 Stagtement regarding the absence of the consent of Arthur Andersen LLP (1)

24.1 Power of Attorney (contained in the signature pages to this Form 10-K).

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (1)

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (1)

321 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by the Chief Executive Officer, dated March 9, 2004. (1)

322 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by the Chief Financial Officer, dated March 9, 2004. (1)

(1) Filed herewith.

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-34142, as amended.

3) Incorporéted by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-§,
File No. 333-55772.

(4) Confidential treatment previously granted as to portions of this exhibit.

&) Incorporéted by reference form the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10-K,
File No. 000-31589
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